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Interpreter Service Statement:
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4 September 2017

The Honourable Cameron Dick MP

Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services

Member for Woodridge

GPO Box 48

Brisbane Queensland 4001

Dear Minister

I am pleased to submit for presentation to the Parliament the Annual Report 

2016-2017 and financial statements for the Townsville Hospital and Health 

Service.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with:

• the prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the 

Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

• the detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for 

Queensland Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found on pages 77 

and 78 of this annual report.

Yours sincerely 

Tony Mooney AM

Chair

Townsville Hospital and Health Board

Letter of Compliance
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Hospital and 
Health Board 
Chair Overview

I am delighted to see the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service (Townsville 

HHS/HHS) end the 2016-2017 financial 

year with no patient waiting longer 

than the clinically recommended 

times for elective surgery, specialist 

outpatient appointments, general dental 

care and endoscopic procedures. 

I am particularly proud of the long-

waits reduction in specialist outpatient 

services and endoscopy. In 2015-2016, 

931 people were waiting for either a 

specialist outpatient appointment or an 

endoscopic procedure. Today, there are 

no long waits - a wonderful result for the 

people of the region.  We have continued 

our excellent performance in elective 

surgery and general dental care with all 

patients seen in time in 2016-2017.

I welcomed the opportunity to travel 

around the health service over this past 

year. The Board held two meetings in our 

rural communities - at Palm Island and 

Charters Towers. It was my great pleasure 

in August to attend the Community Day 

and Smoking Ceremony to celebrate the 

successful start of planned, low-risk 

birthing at the Ingham Health Service. It 

has been more than a decade since babies 

were able to be born in Ingham and I saw 

first-hand that day how much it meant to 

the community and staff to see the service 

reinstated. I was also pleased to unveil 

the Foundation Stone at the Eventide 

Aged Care Facility at Charters Towers in 

October last year commemorating the 

establishment of the facility 90 years 

ago. This was an important moment 

for both the community and staff and 

demonstrated how very important health 

and aged-care services are for people 

who live in regional communities. 

This year’s Queensland Budget provided 

an additional $71.6 million (+8.3 per cent) 

to the HHS for our 2017-2018 operating 

budget. This growth will enable:

• an expansion of local 

endoscopy services

• the relocation of BreastScreen 

in Townsville to improve 

access for women and

• the opening of additional 

mental health beds. 

For the 2016-2017 financial year, I’m 

pleased to announce a $7.3 million 

surplus while concurrently growing 

services and delivering safe, quality, 

compassionate care to our communities.

I would like to sincerely thank my fellow 

Board members for their drive, passion 

and commitment for delivering first-class 

health care to the region and Health 

Service Chief Executive (HSCE) Dr Peter 

Bristow for his steadfast and conscientious 

stewardship of the organisation. I 

would like to welcome Professor Ajay 

Rane to the Board and sincerely thank 

outgoing Board member Dr Kevin Arlett 

for his significant contribution.

I look forward to the coming year, 

its challenges and opportunities 

and I ask that our patients and 

communities continue to be engaged 

with us on this remarkable journey.

Tony Mooney AM, B Ed BA Hons, FAICD

Chair
Townsville Hospital and Health Board
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Dr Peter Bristow fracp, fcicm, fracma, gsm, gaicd

Health Service Chief Executive 
Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

Hospital and 
Health Service 
Chief Executive 
Overview 

2016-2017 was a year of achievement 

by the staff at the Townsville HHS. 

The staff saw 117,574 patients in our 

emergency departments and within four 

hours 80 per cent were assessed, treated 

and discharged home, transferred or 

admitted. At total of 8,792 elective surgical 

operations were undertaken, an increase of 

six per cent, resulting in no patients waiting 

longer than clinically recommended by 30 

June 2017. Our specialists saw 39,051 new 

referred patients in outpatients, up seven 

per cent as part of the total of 149,444 

appointments provided in specialist 

outpatients. This resulted in no one waiting 

longer than the clinically recommended 

time by the end of the financial year.

Our physicians and surgeons performed 

3,861 gastroenterology endoscopies, 

up 23 per cent. Again, this resulted 

in no patients waiting longer than 

recommended. During this period, the 

quality of care provided was high with 

the Australian Council on Healthcare 

Standards (ACHS) periodic assessment 

and Aged Care Standards Accreditation 

Agency both giving a clean bill of health.

Training continued and was enlivened 

by new models of student nurse 

training. Our service led North 

Queensland in research output. 

Following government funding, significant 

capital works were completed and 

major progress was made on others.

The Townsville HHS delivered 

on its purpose for the people of 

Townsville and North Queensland. 

I would like to sincerely thank all our staff 

for their incredible efforts over the past 

financial year; each plays a part and each 

part is critical to the sum of our success.

I would also like to thank the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Board, led by 

Tony Mooney AM, for its support of 

operationalising an energised, people-

focussed healthcare agenda for our 

communities. I am looking forward to 

building on the successes this year toward 

a bigger, brighter, better 2017-2018.
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Activity 
Snapshot.

2016–2017

Across the HHS each day...

= average  
length of stay

patients attend the 
Emergency Department

patients have a 
specialist outpatient 

appointment

babies 
are born

233

3.3
days

7patients are 
admitted to 
hospital

patients have 
an operation

322

409
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In 2016-2017...

13%

26%

36%

726

3%  
increase

180,159 

131,113 

dental occasions 
of service

medical imaging 
examinations

increase

increase

increase

emergency department 
attendances

in hospital 
admissions

in total 
occasions 
of service

in telehealth 
occasions 
of service

number 
of beds
=

117,574 in surgical 
procedures

2,710
births
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Highlights.

regional hospital 
in Queensland  
to freeze heart tissue to 
treat atrial fibrillation 

2016–2017

The Townsville Hospital becomes the 

nly

Queensland Government-funded  

Alec Illin Secure Mental  
Health Rehabilitation Unit
opens at The Townsville Hospital 

0 Elective surgery  
long waits

0 Specialist outpatients 
long waits

0 Endoscopy  
long waits

0 General dental  
long waits
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Site preparation 
begins on the

$16.5 million

$7.3 million

Palm Island 
Primary 
Care Centre 

Eight nurse 
navigators

The second phase of the 

digital medical 
records roll out

is successfully  
completed at The  

Townsville  
Hospital 

Construction begins on the

$6,600,000

90 years

expansion of The 
Townsville Hospital’s

paediatric 
unit

of providing residential 
aged care to the people of 

Charters Towers 

Eventide 
celebrates

The HHS 
delivers a

surplus for 
reinvestment 
in services

begin work in the Townsville HHS
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non-f inancial  
perform ance

In 2016-2017, the HHS had 
a key focus on reducing 
long waits to zero. At 
30 June 2017, no patient 
waited longer than the 
clinically recommended 
times for elective surgery, 
endoscopic procedures, 
specialist outpatient 
appointments and 
general dental care. 
This was achieved in an environment 

of significantly increased patient 

activity - a six per cent increase (+508) 

in elective surgery cases and a seven 

per cent (+2,462) increase in new 

specialist outpatient appointments. 

Our 
Performance.

0 
Elective surgery  
long waits

0 
Dental general care 
long waits

Specialist outpatient 
appointment long waits

2014-2015 2015-2016 2016-2017

1,026 771 0

0

Endoscopy procedure 
long waits

2015-2016 2016-2017

160
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80%

emergenc y 
department access
The HHS achieved the 80 per cent target 

for emergency department attendances 

who were admitted, transferred or 

discharged within four hours of arrival. The 

result was three per cent higher than the 

state-wide average. Strong performance 

at the rural facilities of Ingham, Ayr, 

Charters Towers and Joyce Palmer Health 

Service continued with a combined 

year-to-date average of 95 per cent.

The patient off-stretcher time 

(patients that are transferred from the 

Queensland Ambulance Service into 

the emergency department within 30 

minutes) for the year was 97 per cent, 

well above the target of 90 per cent. 

10%

ac tiv it y
During 2016-2017, the HHS produced 

10 per cent more weighted activity 

units than were purchased by the 

Department of Health. This result was 

due to more efficient service delivery 

and is a credit to the staff of the HHS. 

$268

eff icienc y
$268 more efficiency than the 

target cost per weighted activity 

unit across Queensland.

73%

r ate of communit y 
mental he alth follow-up
More than 73 per cent of patients 

who were discharged from an acute 

mental health inpatient unit were 

followed up in the community within 

one to seven days of discharge, well 

above the target of 65 per cent.

Registered nurse Tiana Cunnington is part of the team that reduced elective surgery long waits to zero in 2016-2017
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f inancial perform ance
As the HHS spends taxpayers’ 

money and provides a diverse and 

extensive service profile across a wide 

geographical area, costs and revenues 

must be carefully managed. A robust 

accounting and reporting system is 

key to ensuring satisfactory financial 

outcomes and continuing sustainability.

The Townsville HHS achieved a financial 

surplus of $7.3 million for the year ending 

30 June 2017. This is the fifth financial 

year as a statutory body that an operating 

surplus has been achieved, while still 

delivering on agreed major services 

and meeting and improving key safety 

and quality performance indicators.

re venue and e xpenses– 
f inancial ye ar ending 
30 june 2017 $(000)s

Revenue 904,944

Expenses

Labour and 
employment 
expenses

638,179

Supplies and 
Services 204,120

Other expenses 14,990

Depreciation and  
amortisation 
expense

40,368

Total 897,657

Net surplus from 
operations 7,287

Where the money comes from 

Townsville HHS total income from 

continuing operations for 2016-

2017 was $904.9 million. 

Of this, the State contribution was $550.7 

million and the Commonwealth contribution 

$265.3 million. Specific-purpose grants 

worth $26 million were received and own 

source and other revenue was $62.9 million.

Where the money goes

Townsville HHS operates a complex 

group of services. The table below 

shows the proportion of budget 

spent on services within the HHS. 

Total expenses for 2016-2017 were 

$898 million, averaging $2.46 million 

per day spent on servicing the diverse 

regions of Townsville, Ingham, Ayr, 

Home Hill, Charters Towers, Richmond, 

Hughenden and Palm Island.

The largest percentage of spend was 

against labour costs including clinicians 

and support staff (73 per cent). Non-

labour expenses such as clinical supplies, 

drugs, prosthetics, pathology, catering, 

repairs and maintenance, communications, 

computers and energy accounted for 22 

per cent of expenditure. Five per cent of 

expenditure was related to depreciation 

and amortisation of the fixed-asset base.

Financial outlook

The Board and management of the 

Townsville HHS remain vigilant in ensuring 

optimal services are achieved, with a 

modest contingency reserve to ensure the 

HHS is well placed to meet the ongoing 

needs of its communities into the future.

The coming financial year will see 

Townsville HHS continue its successful 

growth strategy of reinvesting in its 

existing facilities, integrating information 

technology and pursuing projects that 

will support the delivery of health 

services and contribute to improved 

health outcomes for the community.

Highlights include the construction of 

additional beds and enhanced paediatric 

space at The Townsville Hospital (TTH) 

and a new primary care centre on 

Palm Island. The Board will actively 

consider further opportunities both in 

service delivery and infrastructure.

The HHS will continue to focus on the 

financial sustainability of services given 

the expected increase in demand over 

the next five to 10 years, and associated 

pressures resulting from future financial 

allocations anticipated from both 

Commonwealth and State Governments.

The State Government has increased 

funding in 2017-2018 to $935.9 million 

as a result of increased service activity 

which has now been capped for the 

year. This pre-purchase provides greater 

financial certainty to the HHS in terms 

of planning and supply, but will require 

management focus if the cap is exceeded.

Backlog maintenance program

The HHS has reached and completed 

in full the final year of the four-year 

$17.2 million program of maintenance 

and rehabilitation works to rejuvenate 

buildings and other facilities.

The State Government provided the funding 

to fix the backlog of maintenance work, 

which is in addition to the service’s regular 

repairs and maintenance expenditure.

Some of the common works have included 

improved security, replacement of floor 

coverings, electrical system upgrades, 

improved emergency power facilities, air-

conditioning upgrades or replacements 

and improved fire system services. 

$638.2m

$2.46m

most flowing on to 
the local economy

on providing services 
for our region

per year spent 
on staff costs

spent per day
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The following table is an overview of the Townsville HHS’s performance results against each service delivery standard, comparing target to 

actual performance for the 2016-2017 financial year. 

Notes 2015-2016 
Actual

As at 30 
June 2016

2016-2017 
Target / 

Estimate

2016-2017 
Actual

As at 30 
June 2017

Percentage of patients attending emergency departments 
seen within recommended timeframes: 1

>> Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 100% 100%

>> Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 81% 80% 68%

>> Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 72% 75% 63%

>> Category 4 ( within 60 minutes) 75% 70% 71%

>> Category 5 (within 120 minutes) 92% 70% 95%

Percentage of emergency department attendances who depart 
within four hours of their arrival in the department 2 87% >80% 80%

Percentage of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

>> Category 1 (30 days) 99% >98% 100%

>> Category 2 (90 days) 91% >95% 95%

>> Category 3 (365 days) 97% >95% 98%

Rate of healthcare-associated staphylococcus aureus (including MRSA) 
bloodstream (SAB) infections per 10,000 acute public hospital patient days 1.5 <2.0 1.5

Rate of community follow up within 1-7 days following discharge 
from an acute mental health inpatient unit 74% >65% 73%

Proportion of readmissions to an acute mental health 
inpatient unit within 28 days of discharge 3 18% <12% 13%

Percentage of specialist outpatients waiting within clinically recommended times:

>> Category 1 (30 days) 100% 98% 100%

>> Category 2 (90 days) 91% 65% 100%

>> Category 3 (365 days) 93% 85% 100%

Percentage of specialist outpatients seen within clinically recommended times:

>> Category 1 (30 days) 4 91% New measure 98%

>> Category 2 (90 days) 69% New measure 83%

>> Category 3 (365 days) 66% New measure 77%

Median wait time for treatment in emergency departments (minutes) 16 20 20

Median wait time for elective surgery (days) 5 37 25 57

Average cost per weighted activity unit for Activity Based Funding facilities $4,685 $4,563

Number of elective surgery patients treated within clinically recommended times:

>> Category 1 (30 days) 4 3,127 New measure 3,336

>> Category 2 (90 days) 3,263 New measure 3,198

>> Category 3 (365 days) 1,894 New measure 2,048

Number of telehealth outpatient occasions of service events 4 4,137 New measure 5,625

Total weighted activity units:

>> Acute Inpatients 6 80,681 89,085

>> Outpatients 20,659 21,202

>> Sub-acute 9,084 11,499

>> Emergency Department 13,989 14,388

>> Mental Health 9,734 13,729

>> Prevention and Primary Care 2,602 2,833

Ambulatory mental health service contact duration (hours) 7 57,844 >68,647 59,289

Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI) 8 5,073 5,120
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Notes:

1. Category two and three performance for the percentage of emergency department patients seen within the recommended 

timeframes is unfavourable to target due to the implementation of FirstNet (a module of the digital hospital program) on 26 

July 2016, causing significant data collection issues.  The rates for these categories have improved over recent months.

2. The HHS met the target for 2016-2017 of 80 percent for emergency department attendances who were admitted, transferred or discharged 

within four hours of arrival.  The 2016-2017 result reduced from 87 percent the prior year due to the implementation of FirstNet. The HHS’s 

performance remains three per cent higher than the state-wide average, and is the leading tertiary facility across the state.

3. Year-to-date data as at 31 May 2017.

4. New measure effective from 1 July 2017 as tabled in the 2017-2018 State Budget paper.

5. The HHS’s median wait time (days) for elective surgery has increased from 37 in 2015-2016 to 57 in 2016-2017. The increase is due to 

the mix of patients waiting, and is reflective of the higher proportion of category three patients referred for surgery this year compared 

to last year in line with the outpatient long wait reduction strategy. More outpatient long waits were seen leading to more referrals. 

6. Year-to-date data as at 21 August 2017.

7. This indicator only counts the time the consumer receives and not the time the clinicians provide, especially if the patient is seen by 

two clinicians at the same time.  Although the HHS has not met the target, the HHS’s result is in line with the state-wide average.

8. The MOHRI FTE target estimate was raised up from the figure published in the Service Delivery Statement as a result of extra funding 

provided for activity.  The MOHRI FTE target/estimate was 5,133 as in the amended service agreement with the Department of Health 

dated 30 June 2017. 
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Our  
Organisation.

The Townsville Hospital 
and Health Service extends 
across a vast geographic 
area and serves a diverse 
population demographic. 
Covering an area of about 148,000 square 

kilometres, the HHS is home to a resident 

population of 239,241 or around 5.1 per 

cent of Queensland’s overall population; 

the annual population growth is currently 

projected at 1.5 to 1.6 per cent growth per 

annum. The HHS provides quality public 

healthcare across a range of specialties 

in acute, community and specialist 

outreach settings. Specialist services are 

provided to a catchment from Mackay 

to the Torres Strait Islands, and west 

to the Northern Territory border, to a 

population of around 670,000. 

Data published by the Queensland 

Government Statistician’s 

Office indicate the HHS 

has a number of rural 

communities with a 

high level of relative 

disadvantage 

measured by the 

index of relative 

socio-economic 

disadvantage. 

The Australian Bureau of Statistics 

estimates that 7.1 per cent of HHS 

residents are of Aboriginal or Torres 

Strait Islander descent almost double the 

average (3.6 per cent) for Queensland 

as a whole. Around 12.1 per cent of the 

HHS’s residential population identifies 

as being born outside Australia with 33.6 

per cent of this population speaking a 

language other than English at home.

The Townsville HHS is the region’s largest 

civilian employer; one in 50 people 

works for the HHS which has a monthly 

pay run in excess of $50 million. It is 

home to northern Australia’s only tertiary 

hospital, The Townsville Hospital, and to 

the Townsville Public Health Unit (TPHU).

Townsville

1 in 50

which has a monthly 
pay run in excess of 
$50 million

people works 
for the HHS
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The Townsville HHS is a values-driven organisation 
which delivers person-centred care. The HHS 
has five core values - integrity, compassion, 
accountability, respect and engagement (iCARE) 
- that guide the organisation’s behaviour.

Integrity

• Being open and transparent in 

dealing with our community 

• Being honest, just, 

reasonable and ethical

• Having the courage to act ethically 

in the face of opposition

Compassion

• Taking time to show we care for 

our community, each other and 

those in need by being non-

judgemental and responsive

• Showing empathy and humility 

in order to make a difference

• Showing due regard for the 

contribution and diversity for all 

staff and treat all patients and 

consumers, carers and their friends 

with professionalism and respect 

Accountability

• Being responsible for our own 

actions and behaviours

• Using and managing resources 

responsibly, efficiently and effectively

• Promoting excellence, innovations 

and continual improvement

• Developing the skills, knowledge 

and capability of all staff

• Promoting safety and wellness of 

staff, patients and their families 

Respect

• Recognising individual 

needs, listening to others and 

understanding their differences

• Showing tolerance, treating others as 

equals and acknowledging their worth

• Valuing and honouring diversity 

Engagement

• Collaborating with patients and 

their families, healthcare providers, 

research and education institutions, 

government and the community 

• Involving community, clinicians and 

colleagues in meaningful ways

• Listening to, and considering, 

ideas and concerns of others in 

the decision-making process

Our values are consistent with the 

Public Service Ethics Act 1994 (s6-8) 

and the Public Service Act 2008 (s25).

values of the hhs
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The strategic direction 
of the Townsville HHS, 
set by the Townsville 
Hospital and Health 
Board, is underpinned by 
the Strategic Plan 2014-
2018 (2016 Update). 
The document, based on the service’s 

values and aligning with the Queensland 

Government and Department of Health’s 

‘My health, Queensland’s future: Advancing 

health 2026’, sets out to achieve the 

Vision, Purpose and Values of the HHS as 

well as the HHS’s six Strategic Pillars. 

v ision
The Townsville HHS’s vision is for 

a healthy North Queensland.

purpose
To deliver quality public health 

services, education and research for 

the Townsville region and tertiary 

healthcare for North Queensland.

str ategic pill ars
The HHS’s strategic plan is 

aligned to six pillars:

• Build healthier communities

• Focus on individual health outcomes

• Provide, safe, efficient and 

sustainable services

• Lead excellence and innovation

• Work collaboratively

• Maintain an exceptional workforce 

These pillars align with the Queensland 

Government’s objectives for the 

community of delivering quality front-

line services and building safe, caring 

and connected communities. 

facil it ies
The Townsville HHS is responsible for 

the day-to-day direct management of 

facilities and services which include:

• Ayr Health Service

• Cambridge Street Health Campus

• Cardwell Community Clinic

• Charters Towers Health Service

• Charters Towers Rehabilitation Service

• Eventide Residential Aged Care Facility

• Home Hill Health Service

• Hughenden Multi-Purpose 

Health Service

• Ingham Health Service

• Josephine Sailor Adolescent 

Inpatient Unit and Day Service

• Joyce Palmer Health 

Service (Palm Island)

• Kirwan Health Campus

• Kirwan Mental Health Rehabilitation Unit

• Magnetic Island Community Clinic

• North Ward Health Campus

• Palmerston Street Health Campus

• Parklands Residential Aged Care Facility 

• Richmond Health Service

• The Townsville Hospital

• Townsville Public Health Unit

e xecutive
The Townsville HHS executive was led 

in 2016-2017 by HSCE Dr Peter Bristow 

who is responsible for the day-to-

day management of the HHS and for 

operationalising the Townsville Hospital 

and Health Board’s strategic vision and 

direction. The HSCE reports to the Board.

Dr Bristow was supported in his role in 

2016-2017 by an executive team comprised 

of: Chief Operating Officer Mr Kieran 

Keyes, Chief Finance Officer/s Mr Robert 

Graham (acting) and Mr Stephen Harbort, 

and five Executive Directors (ED): ED 

Medical Services Dr Andrew Johnson, ED 

Nursing and Midwifery Services Ms Judy 

Morton, ED/s Clinical Governance Ms 

Katrina Mathies (acting) and Dr Tracey 

Bessell, ED/s Human Resources and 

Engagement Ms Anne Tibaldi and Mr 

Allan Parsons (acting) and ED Programs 

Management Ms Danielle Hornsby. 

See following page for organisational chart

service groups 
The HHS has six clinical service groups - 

Health and Wellbeing, Indigenous Health, 

Medical, Mental Health, Rural Hospitals 

and Surgical - and one non-clinical group 

Facilities, Infrastructure and Support 

Services (FISS). The service groups 

report to the Chief Operating Officer. 

towns ville public 
he alth unit
The Townsville Public Health Unit 

(TPHU), based in Townsville City, 

leads population-level responses to 

communicable diseases, outbreaks, and 

environmental health issues, including 

immunisation and health promotion efforts 

to prevent disease. The TPHU Director 

reports to the Chief Operating Officer. 

In 2016-2017, the TPHU developed an 

outreach immunisation program for 

hard-to-reach Indigenous children and 

implemented a patient register to control 

rheumatic heart disease. The TPHU 

also worked in 2016-2017 addressing 

high rates of sexually transmitted 

diseases among Indigenous youth.

The TPHU accelerated its mosquito-borne 

disease program in 2016-2017 to avert 

the new threat of a Zika virus outbreak. 

This work included close collaboration 

with Monash University’s Eliminate 

Dengue Program, a world-first research 

project to release dengue and Zika-

resistant mosquitoes across Townsville 

and other high-risk communities.

achie vements
The HHS has achieved a number of 

successes in 2016-2017 against its Strategic 

Pillars; these included service expansion, 

enhanced clinical activity, healthcare 

innovation, staff excellence recognition 

and major capital works that benefited 

individuals, families and communities. 

The HHS’s service groups and 

directorates work collaboratively 

to achieve positive outcomes for 

patients, consumers and communities 

against the six Strategic Pillars. 
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Health Service Chief Executive 
Dr Peter Bristow

thhs organisational chart

Chief Operating Officer
Kieran Keyes

Executive Director 
Medical Services  

Dr Andrew Johnson

Executive Director Nursing 
& Midwifery Services

Judy Morton

Executive Director 
Clinical Governance 

Dr Tracey Bessell

Executive Director Human
Resources & Engagement

Allan Parsons

Chief Finance Officer
Stephen Harbort

Executive Director 
Programs Management 

Danielle Hornsby

Facilities, Infrastructure 
& Support Services

Scott Goddard

Indigenous Health 
Service Group
Liza Tomlinson

Health & Wellbeing 
Service Group
Vicki Carson

Rural Hospitals 
Service Group 

Sara Shaughnessy

Mental Health 
Service Group
Michael Catt

Surgical Service Group
Adrianne Belchamber

Medical Service Group
Stephen Eaton

Build healthier communities

On 1 July 2016, the HHS, through its 

Rural Hospitals Service Group, returned 

planned, low-risk birthing to the Ingham 

community. The community celebrated 

the reintroduction of this service and 

the associated establishment of a group 

midwifery practice and employment of 

additional rural generalist medical staff 

with advanced training in obstetrics and 

anaesthetics. At 30 June 2017, 47 babies had 

been born at the Ingham Health Service. 

The Health and Wellbeing Service Group 

has a focus on service enhancement and 

improvement for women and children. 

Breast-screen participation rates in 2016-

2017 for target women (women aged 

between 50 and 74 years) in the HHS 

increased from 66.7 per cent to 67 per 

cent; participation of Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander target women increased from 

50.3 per cent to 53.3 per cent. Specialist 

support for children in rural areas was 

also a focus as part of building healthier 

communities. Funding from the Rural and 

Remote Revitalisation project was used to 

implement a Child Development Service 

Outreach Model to improve access to allied 

health child development services for 

children living in rural and remote areas. 

This model has markedly increased both 

referrals and activity across allied health 

disciplines including speech pathology, 

physiotherapy and occupational therapy. 

The Indigenous Health Service Group has 

overseen the preparation for endorsement 

of the Palm Island Health Action Plan 

2017-2027 to chart the direction of primary 

healthcare on Palm Island for the next 

decade. This plan frames the construction 

of the Palm Island Primary Care Centre 

with early works on this significant capital 

project commencing in May 2017.

In 2016-2017, the Surgical Service Group, 

which is responsible for cardio-thoracic 

and cardiology services in the HHS, began 

a collaboration with the National Heart 

Foundation to launch the Lighthouse Project 

aimed at improving the care of Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander peoples with 

Acute Coronary Syndrome caused by 

decreased blood flow in the heart’s arteries. 

Support for mental health consumers 

is a central focus for the HHS which, 

through the Mental Health Service Group, 

recruited to, and expanded, its court 

liaison service in 2016-2017. Support was 

also provided to Emergency Department 

patients with substance misuse issues 

including the misuse of methamphetamine 

hydrochloride (ice). The Drug and Alcohol 

Brief Intervention Team (DABIT) provided 

1,122 interventions in 2016-2017 to 

Emergency Department patients as well 

as delivering regular education sessions 

to Emergency Department medical and 

nursing staff. DABIT also facilitated 

129 referrals to the Alcohol, Tobacco 

and Other Drugs Service (ATODS). 

Focus on individual health outcomes

At 30 June 2017, no patient was 

waiting longer than the clinically 

recommended times for elective surgery, 

specialist outpatient appointments 

and endoscopic procedures. 

In 2016-2017, the HHS saw significant 

growth in the Hospital in the Home (HiTH) 

program managed by the Medical Service 

Group. HiTH allows care to occur in the 

home for eligible patients, reducing the 

numbers of patients who require ongoing 

care in an inpatient setting and freeing 

up beds for the most unwell members 

of the community. There is also good 

evidence that individual patients recover 

more quickly in their home environments 

adding to the success of the program. 

At 30 June 2017, 869 patients 
had accessed HiTH in the 
Townsville HHS up from 793 in 
2015-2016
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Tele-health continues to be successfully 

used by specialist medical and nursing 

staff to consult with staff in rural and 

remote locations to improve patient 

outcomes. In 2016-2017, the HHS increased 

its outpatient occasions of service using 

tele-health technology by 36 per cent or 

1,488 occasions of service. The increased 

use of this technology enables patients 

to undergo specialist consults without 

having to travel, often hundreds of 

kilometres, to The Townsville Hospital. 

Cardiac activity has been further enhanced 

in the HHS by the appointment of a second 

cardiac electrophysiologist allowing for 

the delivery of a sustainable cardiac 

electrophysiology service for patients. 

The newly appointed cardiac 

electrophysiologist introduced the 

innovative technique that uses nitrous 

oxide to freeze the heart tissue in 

the treatment of atrial fibrillation. 

The Joyce Palmer Health Service ( JPHS) 

mobile clinic has improved access to 

primary care on Palm Island, helping 

overcome the barrier and stigma of hospital 

Artist’s impression of the Palm Island Primary Care Centre

Richmond Health Service registered nurse Sherry Walton uses telehealth to support local patients 
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Ingham doctor’s 
special local 
delivery 
Dr Carmel Cockburn and husband Damon with 
newborn Kurtis

In a joyous illustration of 
taking your work home 
with you, one of the first 
babies to be born in 
Ingham since the return of 
planned, low-risk birthing 
was born to Ingham 
Health Service rural 
generalist obstetrician 
Dr Carmel Cockburn and 
her husband Ingham 
local Damon Cockburn.

Baby Kurtis Cockburn was born on 

13 July 2016 weighing 4.05 kgs. 

Dr Cockburn said while she thought she 

would be assisting birthing babies in 

Ingham, she was elated to have birthed 

her own as the third baby born since the 

reintroduction of the service on 1 July 2016.

“I have seen all of the work that has gone 

into bringing birthing services back to 

Ingham and I am so proud that I was 

able to experience the benefits of having 

my baby in my hometown,” she said. 

“Knowing that Kurtis is one of many 

more babies to be born in our 

community is extremely special.

“Damon and I feel lucky to not 

only have welcomed Kurtis to our 

family but to have his delivery mark 

something else so significant.”

Townsville Hospital and Health Board 

Chair Tony Mooney said he was incredibly 

proud to see the service officially 

return to the Ingham community.

“The Townsville Hospital and Health Board 

strongly supports delivering healthcare 

that takes into account the personal needs 

of our patients and this means providing 

services where they live,” he said.

“Welcoming a child into a family is 

a milestone and one that should be 

marked in the community of that family.

 “I congratulate Carmel and Damon 

on the birth of Kurtis and look 

forward to hearing of many more 

babies being born in Ingham.”

The level three maternity service at Ingham 

offers midwifery care with one dedicated 

midwife from early pregnancy to six weeks 

post-birth, comprehensive antenatal 

care in conjunction with rural generalist 

obstetricians and anaesthetists, lactation 

support, and on-site, low-risk birthing with 

a comfortable birth room and birth pool.

Our  
Stories.
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attendance and allowing an improved focus 

on, and uptake of, health screening. The van 

is operated by Aboriginal health workers, 

medical and nursing staff and patient 

electronic health details can be updated 

in real time through a Wifi connection. 

Provide safe, efficient and 

sustainable services

The Health and Wellbeing Service Group, 

which is responsible for women’s and 

children’s health services, introduced 

a paediatric community clinic in 2016-

2017. Where appropriate, children are 

initially reviewed by a psychologist 

in an effort to create a more defined 

and efficient pathway of care; this has 

resulted in a reduction in the number 

of children waiting for paediatricians. 

To build connectivity between health 

services where Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

patients may be treated across multiple 

sites, the Indigenous Health Coordinator 

developed a schedule of videoconference 

‘catch-ups’ with remote clinics to create 

linkages among health worker staff, 

increase and sustain awareness of 

services in the HHS and link them with 

travel and accommodation services. 

In 2016-2017, the Building, Engineering 

and Maintenance Services (BEMS) team 

completed the Queensland Government 

funded $17.2 million, four-year backlog 

maintenance remediation program including 

Parklands air-conditioning upgrade, 

Eventide Aged Care Facility refurbishment 

and Hughenden Multi-Purpose Health 

Service fire compartmentation upgrade. 

Additionally, the HHS expended $1.5 

million in 2016-2017 to manage additional 

backlog maintenance at The Townsville 

Hospital including refurbishments of the 

operating theatres and oncology ward. 

Additionally, $2 million was expended 

on the expansion of the eastern campus 

car park at The Townsville Hospital.

BEMS improved efficiencies by working in 

conjunction with contractors to complete 

commissioning of The Townsville Hospital’s 

high-voltage reinforcement project. The 

project reconfigured the high-voltage 

infrastructure and now means the entire 

hospital campus can be powered by 

generators in the event of a catastrophic 

failure or unplanned outage to the external 

electricity network without compromising 

the hospital’s service delivery.

In July 2016, the Townsville HHS successfully 

implemented additional functionality 

in patient integrated electronic medical 

records (ieMR). A number of key specialty 

clinical modules were implemented 

including Emergency Department care 

(Firstnet), Core Inpatient and Outpatient 

Workflows (Care Compass, Patient Lists, 

Summary and Rounding views), Maternity 

(Perinatal and Fetalink), Community 

Health and Radiology and Pathology Order 

sets (Orders Entry Results Reporting). 

The HHS has seen a number of impressive 

safety, adoption and efficiency indicators 

as a result of the new functionality. 

Townsville is a state leader in electronic 

pathology ordering with consistently more 

than 80 per cent of all pathology orders 

placed electronically, coupled with very 

high accuracy rates. Medical staff have 

the highest use rate for automated plans 

for regular order sets, which improves 

patient safety and saves time for busy 

clinicians. In all of our settings, inpatient, 

outpatient and The Townsville Hospital 

Electrical department trade coordinator Robert Moore, electrician Debbie Fricke, BEMS chief engineer Michael Ward and electrical department leading hand Geoffrey 
Edmunds worked on the high-voltage project 



Townsville 
Hospital 
introduces 
specialised 
help for jumpy 
hearts 
Dr Kevin Ng and Ron White in the cardiac 
catheter lab at The Townsville Hospital 

When the bumpy, irregular 
rhythm of Cairns resident 
Ron White’s heart was 
literally making him 
‘sick and tired’ he went 
to his doctor knowing 
something needed to be 
done and done quickly.
Enter Townsville Hospital cardiac 

electrophysiologist Dr Kevin Ng and a 

revolutionary heart procedure that uses 

nitrous oxide to freeze the heart tissue 

to stop electrical circuits responsible 

for the heart’s abnormal rhythm.

“Traditionally we manage irregular heart 

rhythm, known as atrial fibrillation 

(AF), either just with medication or 

by a procedure called radiofrequency 

ablation, which involves threading a 

catheter into the heart and applying 

heat energy to alter the electric 

circuits in the heart,” Dr Ng said.

“When Ron’s AF wasn’t resolving 

with medication and given the 

type of AF he had, I knew he would 

be an excellent candidate for this 

new procedure,” Dr Ng said. 

The Townsville Hospital is the first public 

hospital outside south-east Queensland 

to offer this revolutionary procedure.

Dr Ng said the new method was 

safe, quick and efficient.

 “It’s very precise and is able to be 

done in one or two applications making 

it more time friendly,” he said.

“Freezing is also gentler on the heart 

and as the heart is a continuously 

moving, beating organ it’s a safe 

approach and reduces the risk 

of accidental perforations.”

Mr White underwent the procedure, 

using a machine called a Cryo-AF 

Ablation, in February 2017 and said he 

couldn’t believe the difference it has 

made to his health and happiness. 

“I was feeling very disheartened 

when the medication wasn’t 

helping with my AF,” he said.

“My constant heart palpitations 

and abnormal rhythms were making 

me feel sick and exhausted.

“Since the procedure I’m off medication 

and have been working, travelling with 

my wife and enjoying life,” he said.

Mr White was the first patient to have the 

procedure at The Townsville Hospital.

“It’s wonderful to this available 

locally for people who are where I 

was a few months ago,” he said.

“It’s been amazing.”

Dr Ng who trained in the specialised 

technique at a leading cardiac centre in 

Canada before joining The Townsville 

Hospital said he was delighted to 

bring this new option for treating AF 

to the cardiology department and 

the people of North Queensland. 

“Atrial fibrillation is common and often 

difficult to manage with sufferers 

experiencing palpitations, dizziness, 

shortness of breath and fatigue,” he said.

 Dr Ng said he was excited to 

be able to provide this service 

to North Queenslanders. 

“Being able to perform this procedure 

in Townsville brings us in line with 

advances in technology for cardiac 

electrophysiology in other parts of the 

world and provides patients with a safe 

and effective alternative treatment for 

abnormal heart rhythms,” he said. 

“I’m very proud of that.”

Our  
Stories.
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Emergency Department, clinicians have 

demonstrated high adoption rates of the 

new electronic features. In maternity, 

successful bio-medical device integration of 

electronic fetal monitoring (CTG) equipment 

has enhanced the ability for clinicians to 

review the baby's movement in-utero. 

From a community health perspective, 

the integration of hospital and community 

episodes of care has led to improved 

outcomes for patients through transparency 

and continuity of patient records.

The Townsville Hospital has also 

established a permanent team to support 

this patient-critical system and the 

thousands of clinicians who use the system 

every day. This team delivers ieMR related 

clinical and technical support including 

training, leads ieMR-related improvements, 

and monitors quality and safety indicators 

to continually ensure good clinical 

practice within the digital environment.

In 2016-2017, $1.6 million was spent on 

new devices to enable the recording 

of inpatient observations in real time 

direct from the bedside to the ieMR.

Lead excellence and innovation

In 2016-2017, The Townsville Hospital 

became the first regional public hospital 

in Queensland to offer a treatment for 

patients with Parkinson’s disease in 

North Queensland that was previously 

only available in capital cities. Combining 

the specialties of neurology and 

gastroenterology, the procedure enables a 

pump infusion of Duodopa - a drug used to 

control the severe involuntary movements 

of advanced Parkinson’s disease - via a 

small hole in the abdomen. The Townsville 

Hospital is now the biggest centre for 

Duodopa outside Sydney and the only 

regional centre offering the treatment. 

The HHS rolled out ‘Code Grey’ as a 

modern alternative to combating and 

managing aggressive and violent behaviour 

in The Townsville Hospital’s Emergency 

Department. The Facilities, Infrastructure 

and Support Services directorate 

in conjunction with the Emergency 

Department, Health, Wellness and Safety 

Unit and the Human Resources and 

Engagement Unit developed the clinician-

led emergency response procedure for the 

management of aggressive behaviour. An 

additional innovation in staff and patient 

safety was the successful body-worn 

camera trial at The Townsville Hospital. 

The cameras capture high-quality video 

that can be used as evidence by the 

Queensland Police Service and serve 

as a deterrent to potential offenders. 

The Rural Hospitals Service Group accessed 

the Rural and Remote Revitalisation 

project to fund allied health assistant 

roles across all rural sites to improve 

pathways to care. The assistants were 

supported by allied health practitioners 

via tele-health technology. 

The Townsville HHS has also markedly 

increased its access to tele-health services 

for offender health. Incarcerated patients 

have more access to appointments via tele-

health following the roll-out in September 

2016 of the technology where tele-health 

can now be accessed via a generic PC.

Patients with biting, chewing or swallowing 

difficulties benefited from a menu 

innovation at The Townsville Hospital 

which introduced minced and pureed foods 

moulded into the shape of food items. The 

new approach presented patients with 

an appetising option to vitamised food 

and reduced the risk of malnutrition. 

Food services manager Anston Fivaz with the menu 
innovation at The Townsville Hospital
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When neurologist Dr 
Richard White arrived in 
Townsville five years ago 
he was excited about the 
opportunities to treat and 
support patients with 
complex neurological 
conditions, including 
late-stage Parkinson’s 
disease, in the tropics.
Since that time he has joined forces with 
Townsville Hospital gastroenterologist 
Dr Gillian Mahy to bring a treatment 
to Parkinson’s patients in North 
Queensland that was previously only 
available in capital cities. 

The procedure enables a pump infusion 
of Duodopa - a drug used to control 
the severe involuntary movements 
of advanced Parkinson’s including 
stiffness, shaking and ‘freezing’ where 
the patient gets stuck to the spot - 
via a small hole in the abdomen. 

The city is now the biggest centre for 
Duodopa outside Sydney and the only 
regional centre offering the treatment. 

“In established Parkinson’s we use a 
drug called Levodopa,” Dr White said.

“It’s given orally, is highly effective 

and produces predictable results; 
however, over the course of the disease 
the brain needs more Levodopa, 
and its effects become shorter. 

“Ultimately many patients with late-
stage Parkinson’s reach the point where 
the drug no longer has a prolonged 
or predictable effect. They "switch 
off”; we call this motor fluctuation.

“The gold-standard treatment for motor 
fluctuation in advanced Parkinson’s 
is deep brain stimulation (DBS) which 
is something that can only be done in 
major cities like Brisbane and Sydney 
requiring multiple trips, admissions 
and periods of stabilisation,” he said.

“DBS is not for everyone; patients 
with dementia or who are very elderly 
are not good candidates for DBS.”

Dr White said pump infusion of Duopoda 
(a Levodopa combination therapy) was 
the next step in treating Parkinson’s 
patients whose disease was advancing.

Dr White said patients who opted 
for the pump infusion of Duodopa 
firstly underwent a percutaneous 
endoscopic gastronomy (PEG).

“The endoscopist makes a hole 
in the abdomen to insert the tube 
and then threads a small catheter 
through the stomach into the jejunum 
(small intestine),” he said.

“The pump then continually infuses the 
drug at a nice, steady rate; the procedure 
is extremely effective at managing the 
severe motor fluctuations of patients with 
advanced disease, because it ensures a 
steady blood level of the medication.”

Dr White said the next step in introducing 
the procedure to North Queensland 
was finding a local gastroenterologist 
who was up for the challenge.

Enter Dr Gillian Mahy whom Dr White 
described as ‘extremely open’ to the idea.

“Proceduralists will always worry, rightly, 
about complication rates. Gillian’s 
willingness and opened mindedness 
to work with the neurology team has 
allowed us to introduce the procedure 
to local patients; I’m incredibly pleased 
she was prepared to take us on.”

Dr Mahy said she didn’t hesitate 
when asked to be involved.

“It’s important to support other 
specialities where we can,” she said. 

“This is a very frail group of patients and 
being able to do this procedure locally 
means they don’t have to endure long 
and demanding trips to the south. 

“The results and feedback from the PEG 
Duodopa have been very positive and there 
are significant benefits to quality of life.”

Our  
Stories.

Townsville 
Hospital offers 
breakthrough 
treatment for 
Parkinson’s 
patients
Clinical nurse consultant Dotti Koroblitsas, 
neurologist Dr Richard White and gastroenterologist 
Dr Gillian Mahy have collaborated to bring a new 
treatment to patients with Parkinson’s disease
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Work collaboratively

The HHS was involved in a number 

of collaborations in 2016-2017 to 

support the health and wellbeing of 

individuals, families and communities. 

The Medical Service Group supported 

the opening of a new multiple sclerosis 

(MS) clinic as part of a Queensland-first 

collaboration between the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service and James 

Cook University. The neurology-led clinic 

is a hub for patients with MS, allowing 

them to access an expanded range of 

health services to support and manage 

their illness from a single location.

The Surgical Service Group collaborated 

with the Mackay Hospital and Health 

Service to initiate outreach ear, nose and 

throat services to Mackay while continuing 

to offer specialist clinics in neurosurgery, 

vascular surgery, cardio-thoracic surgery 

and persistent pain management. 

A further successful collaboration was 

the Mental Health Service Group’s 

support of the development and launch 

of the Townsville Community Suicide 

Prevention Action Plan 2017-2020 and 

participation in the Townsville Stronger 

Communities Action Group to reduce 

crimes related to offending youth. 

Cooperation with external agencies is a 

major plank of relationship building for the 

HHS; the Townsville HHS Indigenous Health 

Coordinator is currently a key member 

of the Case Coordination Group which 

includes the Departments of Community, 

Housing, Police, Corrective Services, and 

Human Services and non-government 

agencies Anglicare, Red Cross, Yumba 

Meta and the Office of the Adult Guardian. 

This joint initiative is working to improve 

access to services and, where appropriate, 

investigate alternative pathways to care. 

In 2016-2017, the HHS welcomed the 

continuing collaboration with the 

Townsville Hospital Foundation and its 120 

volunteers who assist patients and their 

families during their hospital experience. 

The Townsville Hospital’s Palliative Care 

Centre (PCC) has 30 specially trained 

volunteers who support patients with 

life-limiting illness and their families 

both in the PCC and in the community. 

The HHS continues to embrace community 

collaboration. The HHS has continued 

its partnership with the Townsville RSL 

Women’s Auxiliary to support returned 

servicemen and women with on-site 

Remembrance Day and Anzac Day Dawn 

Services at The Townsville Hospital. 

Neurologist Dr Mike Boggild, with patient Kate Casey and clinical nurse Sharon Gray, leads an MS clinic in collaboration with JCU



townsville hospital and health service annual report 2016–2017 28

In 2017, the Ingham Health Service 

welcomed a lush palliative care garden 

donated by dedicated volunteers while the 

Hughenden community donated more than 

$20,000 to the Hughenden Multi-Purpose 

Health Service for new equipment and 

furnishings for the tele-oncology unit. 

The HHS was a member of the Local 

District Disaster Management Group 

stood up in Townsville during Tropical 

Cyclone Debbie. Following the cyclone’s 

coastal crossing on 28 March 2017, 70 

staff from the HHS including doctors, 

nurses, electricians, engineers, midwives, 

radiographers, support services and 

administration staff travelled to hospitals 

in Proserpine, Collinsville and Bowen to 

lend their support and relieve exhausted 

staff in afflicted local facilities. This 

collaboration ensured that local residents 

received optimal care in a time of crisis. 

Ingham Palliative Care Association members Lesley Lowth and Carol Sanderson

Rural Hospitals Service Group medical director Dr Michael Young was part of the relief effort following Tropical Cyclone Debbie
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Home Hill graduate nurse Christie Gist

Maintain an exceptional workforce 

The Townsville HHS is dedicated to 

recruiting and retaining exceptional staff 

to support the delivery of quality care to 

individuals, families and communities. 

In 2016-2017, the HHS recruited 70 

medical interns, 117 graduate nurses 

and 33 allied health graduates to grow 

and enhance its clinical workforce. 

Following funding from the Queensland 

Government, the HHS employed eight 

nurse navigators. These skilled nurses 

rapidly made a difference by facilitating 

the care journey of very ill patients.

The commitment of the HHS to local 

employment and building an exceptional 

workforce was enhanced by the enrolment 

of two trainee Aboriginal health workers at 

the Joyce Palmer Health Service on Palm 

Island in a Certificate III in Primary Health 

Care. The HHS is committed to growing 

its local Indigenous workforce. The HHS 

employs 2.9 per cent of staff who identify 

as Indigenous and enjoy fulfilling careers. 

str ategic risk s, 
opportunit ies and 
challenges 

The Townsville HHS provides a critical 

service to improving the health of 

North Queenslanders. The diversity 

of the community means there are 

a range of challenges to overcome, 

and opportunities to benefit from, in 

achieving the organisation’s strategic 

objectives. Identifying long-term risks 

relevant to the strategic landscape is 

essential for defining strategies that will 

have a positive effect on achieving the 

organisational vision and purpose. 

Over the next 10 years, the region’s 

population is projected to increase in 

size, age and Indigenous proportion 

which, in turn, will increase demand 

for services and shape the future 

health needs of local communities. 

The HHS will continue to invest in the 

future health of its communities by 

proactively identifying and mitigating 

risks that could have an impact on 

organisational objectives. The HHS views 

risk management as a key activity to 

success and, accordingly, the Board has 

defined the appetite and tolerance to 

strategically identify and prioritise the risks, 

opportunities and challenges in relation 

to delivering on strategic objectives. 

te aching and le arning 
partnerships 
The HHS partners with James Cook 

University and other tertiary institutions 

and colleges of TAFE to be the leading 

provider in North Queensland of on-

site, practical clinical teaching of the 

healthcare professionals of the future.

In 2016-2017, the HHS supported 

157,835.2 medical student placement 

hours, 349,160 nursing and midwifery 

student placement hours and 8,428 

allied health student placement days. 

whole-of-government 
plans
During 2016-2017, the HHS continued to 

participate in a range of whole-of-government 

plans. The Oral Health National Partnership 

Agreement allocated $944,441 to the HHS 

to provide an additional 16,284 weighted 

occasions of service. The additional funding 

enabled the service to reduce the wait time 

for general dental care to no more than 18 

months, well under the 24-month target.

The HHS continued to work closely with 

the Northern Queensland Primary Health 

Network to improve the co-ordination of 

care to ensure patients received the right 

care in the right place at the right time.

Townsville was the early launch site for 

the roll out of the National Disability 

Insurance Scheme (NDIS) in Queensland 

which commenced in January 2016. On 1 

July 2016, the NDIS came into full effect 

across the Townsville region to support 

people with disability, their families and 

carers. The HHS was represented on the 

Townsville NDIS Local Transition Whole-

Of-Government Working Meeting, and 

established the HHS NDIS Working Party 

to provide staff with information about 

how patients could access the scheme and 

their role in assisting with this process.
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Closing 
the Gap
Registered nurse Lauwana Blackley has returned home 
to Palm Island in a bid to help turn the tide of the 
effects of chronic kidney disease on her community 

The HHS remains 
committed to Closing the 
Gap by designing and 
developing programs 
and innovative culturally 
appropriate models of 
care that deliver improved 
health outcomes for 
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander peoples. 
In 2016-2017, the HHS established 

pharmacy-led renal clinics at the North 

Ward Health Campus in conjunction with 

the Townsville Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Health Service (TAIHS) to 

support the continuation of care to this 

chronically unwell group of patients.

Closing the Gap in health outcomes for 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

requires a culturally capable workforce 

that uses the four guiding principles of

• Cultural respect and recognition 

• Communication

• Relationships and partnerships

• Capacity building 

The Cultural Capability Plan 2016-

2018 was developed by the Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander Health 

Leadership Advisory Committee and 

was endorsed by the Board in 2017. This 

plan guides the HHS across the areas of 

engagement, workforce, communication 

and cultural capability improvement.

The HHS delivers a cultural practice 

learning program to support staff build 

skills in these areas and bring about 

flexibility in the health system to assist 

patients in their healthcare journey. In 

2016-2017, the HHS worked closely with 

the TAIHS to increase the availability of 

mental health, paediatric, maternal and 

endocrine clinics both in the community 

and at Townsville Hospital clinics.

The HHS participates in a number of 

community and interagency meetings 

designed to improve access to Townsville 

Hospital services, link Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander people to community 

services and jointly problem solve service 

issues for people needing support 

and guidance to obtain services. 

Maternal and child health continues to 

be a focus with an Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander health worker based in the 

maternity unit at The Townsville Hospital, 

midwifery service to Palm Island and a 

visiting midwife and child health nurse 

working at TAIHS each week. A second 

midwife works from Joyce Palmer Health 

Service on Palm Island to support young 

parents during pregnancy and after the 

child has been born with a high rate of 

home visiting. Both midwives coordinate 

care for Palm Island women attending 

The Townsville Hospital to have their 

babies. The ‘Core of Life’ program to 

assist communities to feel stronger 

about supporting healthier choices and 

outcomes for future generations was 

delivered to students at Bwgolcolman 

School in conjunction with TAIHS. 

Engagement with young people is a key 

strategy to improving health outcomes. 

During the reporting period the health 

workers of the Young Person’s Health and 

Wellbeing Service participated in 10 fora 

and delivered 60 health promotion sessions 

to high school students aged between 

12 and 19 years in addition to providing 

one-on-one support to approximately 21 

people and families. Collaboration with 

Child and Youth Mental Health ensures 

clients receive a comprehensive service 

that links them with appropriate services. 

Consistent with the Queensland 

Government’s North Queensland Aboriginal 

and Torres STI Action Plan 2016–2021 

sexually transmitted infections screening, 

detection and treatment has been 

increased among young Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander people, with the HHS 

working with TAIHS to increase screening. 

Over the past year, Joyce Palmer 

Health Service has performed 

approximately 195 health checks as 

the health service moves to promote 

health rather than react to illness.
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safe t y and qualit y
In providing services to patients and 

the community, the HHS prioritises the 

safety and quality of such services. 

In 2016-2017, the HHS met all national 

safety and quality in healthcare 

accreditation standards at periodic review, 

supported ongoing safety and quality 

rounds with executive participation and 

welcomed more consumer involvement 

on committees and implemented 

Riskman (online clinical incident and 

workplace safety reporting system). 

The HHS’s ongoing active participation 

in The Health Roundtable provided the 

organisation with valuable benchmarking 

and opportunities to showcase local 

initiatives with colleagues in other 

Australian healthcare services.

The credentialing system was upgraded 

in October 2016 to provide live and 

current credentialing information for 

doctors, physician’s assistants and 

nurse practitioners. The system provides 

improved reporting functions, timely 

information and online data submissions. 

Staff from the HHS received international 

recognition in 2016-2017 with second 

place in the Denmark-based Resilient 

Healthcare International Prize for its 

design and development of the 10C 

model of resilient healthcare clinical 

behaviours: culture, compliance, 

challenge, competence, capture, cognition, 

communication, constraints, clear 

ownership and cohesion. The model 

focusses on examining the causes of 

good patient outcomes and finding ways 

of embedding these in clinical practice. 

rese arch 
The HHS is committed to clinical 

research and innovation. 

In 2016-2017, the HHS committed $662,986 

for research. Research topics ranged from 

neonatal medical care using telehealth to 

the use of 3D-printed moulds to pinpoint 

cancer treatment in the radiation oncology 

department. Grant income from external 

sources included the National Health and 

Medical Research Council, Queensland 

Emergency Medicine Research Foundation, 

Mona Kendall Nursing Research Fund 

and World Diabetes Foundation. HHS 

staff published, or contributed to, 83 

papers in journals that included The 

New England Journal of Medicine, 

Circulation and The Lancet Neurology.

Townsville HHS staff are undertaking 

significant clinical trials that have been 

locally designed. Of these, 21 locally 

designed research studies received ethics 

and research governance approval. 

The HHS is also taking a leading role in 

the development of the Tropical Australian 

Academic Health Centre which is the 

subject of a memorandum of understanding 

signed by North Queensland HHSs, the 

Northern Queensland Primary Health 

Network and James Cook University. 

The HHS’s annual Townsville Research 

Week was held in September 2016 with 

plenary lectures delivered by Townsville 

and interstate experts in the fields of: rural, 

remote and community health, improving 

healthcare outcomes, and preventative 

health. More than 90 research projects 

were delivered as oral presentations 

or posters over five days attracting 

significant interest from local clinicians. 

Workshops included ‘Evidence-based 

healthcare’, ‘Integrating research into 

clinical practice: Leading the process of 

change’ and ‘Promoting your research’.

In 2016-2017, the Board approved funding 

of up to $20,000 for individual innovation 

projects that improved patient care. 

Sonographer Sonja Brennan was a SERTA grant awardee 
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consumer feedback
The Townsville HHS recognises that 

consumer feedback provides an 

opportunity to learn from patients and 

families in order to continually improve 

the quality of healthcare. In 2016-2017, 

the number of compliments was more 

than double the number of complaints. 

Consumer feedback allows the health 

service to better understand patients’ and 

their families’ experiences. Responding to 

patients’ and families’ feedback enables 

the HHS to become more person centred 

with care delivery and decision making.

In 2016-2017, 2,023 compliments were 

received from patients, families and 

consumers compared to 2,415 in 2015-

2016. Most compliments related to patient 

care, staff professionalism and overall 

service. All compliments were shared with 

individual staff and/or specific clinical area.

The number of complaints received in 

2016-2017 was 943, a slight decrease from 

963 in 2015-2016. The majority of these 

related to treatment, communication, 

access to services and the environment. 

All complaints were acknowledged and 

remedial actions including process 

review, targeted staff training and 

clinical review were undertaken. 

HHS staff are encouraged to take a 

responsive and proactive approach to 

consumer feedback and to discuss any 

concerns directly with the patient or family. 

person- centred c are 
The Townsville HHS’s person-centred care 

program launched a number of initiatives 

in 2016-2017 with the aim of ensuring 

that patients were ‘at the centre’ of all 

healthcare service delivery. These initiatives 

included an expansion of the Community 

Partners Program and the creation of a 

Community of Interest database which 

contains key contacts within the community 

available for consultation across a range of 

health issues. Community partners helped 

design and develop tools for staff to use 

during end-of-life care in HHS hospitals 

and facilities, and reviewed information to 

ensure it was easily understood for visitors. 

Community partners played a key role 

in 2016-2017 representing community 

interests on high-level health organisational 

committees including the Quality 

and Safety, Clinical Governance and 

Healthcare Standards Committees 

which oversee the HHS’s safe delivery 

of quality healthcare in accordance with 

national standards. Community partners 

also contributed to major planning 

initiatives through membership of project 

control groups and steering committees 

in areas such as clinical service and 

child and youth service planning.

Staff training continued in 2016-2017 in 

person-centred care. At 30 June 2017, more 

than 90 per cent of staff had attended 

training aimed at raising awareness 

related to health literacy, partnering with 

consumers and empathy in practice. 

rede velopment and  
infr a struc ture 
In 2016-2017, the Townsville HHS 

celebrated the completion of the 

final phase of Stages 3 and 4 of The 

Townsville Hospital’s federally funded 

redevelopment. This included the 

completion and official opening of the 

Planned Procedure Unit and the opening 

of the Central Sterilising Department. 

The Townsville Hospital’s Medical Imaging 

Department added a single-photon 

emission computed tomography (SPECT-

CT), a 3-D hybrid imaging machine that 

excels at pinpointing the location and 

size of problem areas within the body. 

The Alec Illin Secure Mental Health 

Rehabilitation Unit was officially opened 

by the Minister for Disability Services, 

Minister for Seniors and Minister Assisting 

the Premier on North Queensland, the 

Honourable Coralee O’Rourke, while 

significant work on the Queensland 

Government-funded refurbishment of 

the paediatric unit was undertaken with 

funding from the $180 million Significant 

Regional Infrastructure Projects Program. 

Site preparation began in May 2017 for 

the $16.5 million Palm Island Primary 

Care Centre to deliver a community-led 

model of care into the future. Work was 

completed on the $1.6 million Queensland 

Government-funded kitchen refurbishment 

at the Eventide Residential Aged Care 

Facility while a $1.57 million Bone 

Marrow Transplant Unit and $506,000 

oncology unit refurbishment were 

completed at The Townsville Hospital. 

Eventide staff Josephine Williams and Keesha Kelly are delighted with the new kitchen
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Mental health unit 
opens named in 
honour of Alec Illin
Alec Illin outside the unit named in his honour

The secure mental 
rehabilitation health 
unit at The Townsville 
Hospital, named in honour 
of a respected Elder of the 
local Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander community 
and former member for 
the Mental Health Review 
Tribunal, was opened 
on 19 August 2016.
The Alec Illin Secure Mental Health 

Rehabilitation Unit was opened by 

Minister for Disability Services, Minister 

for Seniors and Minister Assisting the 

Premier on North Queensland and Member 

for Mundingburra Coralee O’Rourke.

The $13.5 million refurbished stand-

alone facility on the hospital campus was 

funded by the Queensland Government 

and includes three renovated wings, 

new patient rooms, modern floor 

layout, independent living units and 

rehabilitation spaces that include an 

art therapy room and workshop. 

The unit provides mental health support 

to people who require longer periods 

of care and is the latest in therapeutic 

design offering consumers the very best 

in rehabilitative treatment and care.

Townsville Hospital and Health Board 

Chair Tony Mooney said he was very 

proud of the care provided to people 

living with mental illness by the hospital’s 

mental health service and was delighted 

to see the facility named after such a 

distinguished North Queenslander.

“Mr Illin has been a strong advocate for 

Indigenous Australians over many years,” 

Mr Mooney said.

“He has served on the Northern 

Queensland Parole Board and is a former 

Chair of the Townsville Aboriginal and 

Islander Health Service, National Aboriginal 

Health Organisation and Queensland 

Aboriginal and Islander Health Council and 

he thoroughly deserves this honour.”

Mr Illin said he was both proud and 

humbled.

“I’m terribly proud to have this unit 

named in my honour and want to pay 

tribute to the people I have worked with 

over the years in mental health who have 

advocated for those living with mental 

illness,” he said.

“The opening of this new unit will greatly 

assist consumers in their treatment and 

recovery.”

Our  
Stories.



Our 
People.
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The Townsville Hospital 
and Health Service 
employs 6,063 clinical 
and non-clinical people 
to deliver quality and 
safe care for individuals, 
families and communities 
across its catchment. 

This is the region’s largest workforce. The 

nursing stream has the highest portion of 

females at 88.6 per cent while 2.9 per cent 

of staff identify as Aboriginal or Torres 

Strait Islander, 12.9 per cent as coming from 

a non-English speaking background and 

2.64 per cent as having a disability. The 

healthcare workforce is aging nationally 

and within HHS 7.4 per cent (451) are 

aged under 25, 46.4 per cent (2,815 staff ) 

are aged 25-44 years and 46.1 per cent 

(2,797) are aged 45 and over. 220 new 

graduates were employed in 2016-2017. 

Across 2016-2017 the Townsville HHS 

experienced a 7.9 per cent separation rate 

from those holding permanent roles.
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workforce profile

Minimum Obligatory Human Resource 

Information (MOHRI) is a whole-of-

government methodology for reporting 

and monitoring the workforce.

FTE = full-time equivalent

 

MOHRI 
Occupied 

FTE

MOHRI 
Occupied 

Headcount

Total 5,120 6,063

Managerial 
and Clerical 794 885

Medical 
incl VMOs 648 731

Nursing 2,235 2,783

Operational 778 915

Trade and 
Artisans 42 43

Professional 
and Technical 624 706

workforce engagement

In response to the 2015 Working for 

Queensland Employee Opinion Survey a 

working party was established by the HSCE 

to promote culture and leadership initiatives 

across the Townsville HHS. This group has 

been instrumental is developing key focus 

areas to include innovation, core values, 

engagement and reward and recognition.

re ward and recognit ion 
Townsville HHS staff celebrated more than 

11,775 collective years of service at length-

of-service presentations at local facilities. 

Six individuals and teams were 

acknowledged in 2016-2017 for 

embodying the HHS’s Vison, Purpose 

and Values at the annual peer-

nominated Staff Excellence Awards.

The Staff Excellence Awards also saw two 

eminent, retired Townsville specialists, 

Associate Professor Vic Callanan and Dr 

Sid Roveda, respectively honoured for 

their contributions to anaesthetics and 

pain medicine, and maxillofacial surgery, 

as consultants emeritus in the HHS. 

The award winners were:

v ision

Dr John Masson 
(gastroenterologist) 

purp ose

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Health Leadership Advisory Council 

int egrit y

Elizabeth Baker  
(clinical nurse ophthalmology bookings) 

compa ssion

Katrina Pearce  
(medical outpatients’ team leader)

accounta bil it y

Planned Procedure Unit Team

re spec t

Joanne Sherring  
(person-centred care lead)

eng agement 

Patricia Husband  
(prostate cancer specialist nurse) 

Dr Sid Roveda, Dr John Masson and Associate Professor Vic Callanan were honoured at the inaugural Staff Excellence Awards in 2017



townsville hospital and health service annual report 2016–2017 36

Staff commitment to Indigenous health 

outcomes was also celebrated during 

annual NAIDOC Week festivities. 

In 2016, the NAIDOC awardees were:

t e a m of t he y e a r 

ATODS Diversion and Recovery Team

f ut ure l e a der

Tara Douglas  
(advanced health worker)

non - indigenous s ta f f 
cont ribut ion awa rd

Wendy Clein  
(registered nurse) 

queensl and 
multicultur al 
awards 2016
In August 2016, the Townsville HHS was 

presented with the Business Excellence 

Award for its implementation of a pilot 

project, partnering with TAFE Queensland, 

to offer non-clinical work placements for 

job seekers in the federally funded Skills 

for Education and Employment program. 

This program enabled 18 culturally and 

linguistically diverse job seekers to gain 

their first taste of working in Australia. 

The Townsville HHS was the only health 

service in the state to participate in this 

initiative which successfully supports 

migrant and refugee job seekers with 

no prior Australian work experience. 

staff tr aining
The Townsville HHS commenced the move 

towards an increased online approach 

to education and training through 

the implementation of a new learning 

management system. Learning On-Line 

delivers mandatory and other professional 

development training from a single platform 

available to all staff 24/7 from any internet-

connected computer offering increased 

efficiency, consistency and availability. 

At 30 June 2017, 91.6 per cent of staff 

had completed mandatory training.

workforce pl anning
 The HHS has a comprehensive workforce 

strategy to attract and retain a highly skilled 

professional workforce. The Townsville 

HHS Strategic Workforce Plan 2014-2018 

aligns closely to the Service Group Annual 

Operational Plans and the Townsville 

HHS Strategic Workforce Plan 2014-2018 

(2016 Update) and emphasises workforce 

sustainability, capability and culture. 

bully ing and har a ssment 
During 2016-2017, the Townsville HHS 

HSCE launched a zero-tolerance bullying 

and harassment initiative. This included 

mandatory on-line training modules 

for both managers and staff. The anti-

bullying initiative is aimed at creating a 

respectful workplace, free from bullying 

and harassment. The initiative seeks to 

create an awareness and understanding 

of what constitutes bullying, how it can 

be prevented and how organisational 

values play a vital role in building a 

mutually respectful workplace.

industrial rel ations
The HHS engaged constructively in 2016-

2017 with industrial unions representing 

a diverse professional workforce. A 

consultation and escalation process 

provided the opportunity to share concerns 

and build a constructive workplace.

Thrilled with the Business Excellence Award were BEMS carpenter Rodney Stewart, manager support services Sue Stevens and operational services officer Nicole Rumpf
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Nurse graduates Tayla Smith, The Townsville Hospital, Amelia Mitchell, Ayr Health Service, and Chanelle Van Der 
Mescht, Charters Towers Health Service

Hughenden clinical nurse Karen Struthers works part-time 

e arly re tirement, 
redundanc y and 
re trenchment
No packages were paid during the period.

public sec tor 
e thics ac t 1994
The Townsville HHS is committed to 

ensuring the highest level of ethical 

behaviour through all areas of the health 

service. The organisation upholds the 

values and standards of conduct outlined 

in the Code of Conduct for the Queensland 

Public Service, which was developed 

under the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 

consisting of four core principles:

• integrity and impartiality

• promoting the public good

• commitment to the system 

of government 

• accountability and transparency 

Each principle is strengthened by a 

set of values together with standards 

of conduct describing the behaviours 

that demonstrate each principle. Staff 

are required to complete mandatory 

ethics, integrity and accountability 

online training annually to support an 

understanding of their obligations under 

the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994.

he alth and safe t y 
and wellness
The wellbeing of people is the focus of the 

Townsville HHS. The service is committed 

to protecting the people who work in its 

hospitals and healthcare facilities, and 

those who access the HHS’s services and 

visit its sites. The Townsville HHS has 

continued to build on its HealthWorks 

employee health program. A key initiative 

of this program was the introduction of 

the fitness passport, which has grown to 

more than 1,150 individual members. 

As part of promoting work-life balance, the 

HHS offers flexible working arrangements. 

Townsville HHS employs 39.5 per cent of 

its staff part time; the highest group of part-

time workers is nurses with 57.8 per cent of 

the nursing workforce employed part-time.

workers’  rehabil itation
The Townsville HHS recognises the health 

benefits of working, and is committed to 

ensuring employees receive the support 

they need to safely return to work and 

where possible participate in a staged early 

return-to-work program following illness 

or injury. The Townsville HHS WorkCover 

premium rate was 0.72 in 2016-2017, 

remaining below the industry standard. 

The hours lost per FTE were 0.3 per cent. 

occupational v iolence 
pre vention
The Townsville HHS supports a zero 

tolerance for violence against staff. In 

2016-2017 the Townsville HHS implemented 

the Violence Aggression Mitigation and 

Prevention Risk Assessment process 

to identify appropriate risk-mitigation 

strategies for existing or potential 

occupational violence hazards. The roll 

out of ‘Code Grey’ and the body-worn 

cameras trial were major measures toward 

countering aggressive behaviour. 
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Improving the patient 
journey for people 
with breast cancer and 
bolstering treatment 
compliance for patients 
with sleep apnoea are 
among the projects 
set to benefit from a 
new funding bucket in 
the Townsville HHS.
The Innovation Fund was the brainchild 

of the Leadership and Culture Working 

Party, providing one-off funding of up 

to $20,000 to clinical and non-clinical 

staff or teams to enable them to develop 

clinical, administrative or support system 

initiatives that lead to improvements 

in the quality of patient care.

Executive director clinical governance 

Dr Tracey Bessel said the standard 

of the applications was high.

“What this has shown is that there is a 

great groundswell of innovative ideas 

coming from across our many and varied 

areas that this funding will support 

in becoming a reality,” she said.

“Innovation is essential in healthcare 

and supporting our staff to push the 

boundaries and look at new ways of 

doing business is in the best interests 

of our staff and our community.”

Medical oncology senior staff specialist 

Dr Abhishek Joshi was a successful 

applicant who has secured $15,000 for 

a project aimed at better coordinating 

care for patients with breast cancer by 

developing an integrated care pathway.

“Patients with breast cancer have to 

navigate some pretty complex health 

systems across private providers, primary 

care and the hospital,” he said.

“This year we’ve established a 

Townsville Breast Cancer Network, 

which brings together clinicians 

from all those streams, but we really 

needed funding to address some of the 

current gaps in the patient journey.

“By closing these gaps we’ll be in a 

position to make the patient journey 

from diagnosis through treatment to a 

cure more satisfying as well as delivering 

some efficiency for the health system.”

Dr Joshi said roughly a third of the 

money would be used for information 

sessions for general practitioners, a third 

to gather feedback from breast cancer 

patients – particularly those from regional 

areas – and the final third to develop 

digital platforms to assist patients.

“Having a good idea is one thing 

but to make that idea a reality you 

need funding and that is where this 

grant will really help us,” he said.

Nurse unit manager medical and 

cardiac clinics Stephen Reeves received 

$5400 for an auto-titration positive 

airway pressure trial for patients 

with obstructive sleep apnoea.

The trial allows patients to receive the 

second component of their treatment at 

home rather than coming into hospital.

“So what we are hoping to do with this 

funding is purchase equipment that will 

allow us to monitor both the required 

treatment pressure and oxygen saturations 

during the night,” Mr Reeves said.

“A big part in this working successfully is 

making sure that patients are using the 

equipment properly and therefore the 

results we are getting are accurate.”

Mr Reeves said the funding would be 

used to purchase upgraded equipment 

as well as provide education to ensure 

patients were using it successfully.

Our  
People.

Big bucks for 
bright ideas 
Medical oncology senior staff specialist Dr Abhishek Joshi 
and nurse unit manager medical and cardiac clinics Stephen 
Reeves have received funding for their innovative ideas



HHS staff 
contribute 
to their 
communities
Prostate cancer nurse Trish Husband climbed Mt 
Kilimanjaro to raise funds for the Prostate Cancer 
Foundation of Australia 

Townsville HHS staff are 
not just renowned for 
their exemplary care of 
patients in hospital, they 
also dedicate hundreds 
of hours of their own time 
to important health and 
social causes and fund-
raising endeavours to 
support people in need. 
In 2016-2017, staff climbed mountains, 

cycled hundreds of kilometres, 

championed the education of girls 

in Africa and handed out Christmas 

presents to those alone in hospital 

during the festive season.

Prostate cancer nurse Trish Husband 

endured a gruelling six-day, 72km climb 

to the top of Africa’s highest peak, 

Mt Kilimanjaro, to raise funds for the 

Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia. 

“Climbing Mt Kilimanjaro was one 

of the biggest challenges of my life 

but it’s nothing compared to the 

challenges that men with prostate 

cancer face each day,” she said.

Principal house officer Dr Stephanie 

Moore took part in the annual ‘Do it in 

a Dress’ campaign, donning a school 

uniform for one of her intensive care 

unit (ICU) shifts to help raise money 

to send girls in Africa to school.

“Around 60 million girls globally are 

denied an education, simply because 

they are girls,” Dr Moore said.

“I was hugely supported by my colleagues 

in ICU and in other areas of the hospital 

with many generous donations.”

Each July, Townsville HHS staff take part in 

the Townsville to Cairns Bike Ride to raise 

money for the Children’s Cancer Institute.

In 2016-2017, radiation therapists 

Bronwyn Shirley and Michaela Thomas 

were among a number of staff that 

completed the 360km ride.

Mrs Thomas said the cause was 

particularly meaningful for radiation 

therapists who worked with 

patients with cancer every day.

“It was a challenge but one which we were 

very happy to take on to raise money for 

children with a cancer diagnosis,” she said.

For administration team leader 

Katrina Pearce seeing patients alone 

in hospital on Christmas Day was a 

predicament crying out for a solution.

“There are a number of charity drives that 

cater for children at Christmas time, but 

very few for older patients,” she said.

“Our staff at the hospital were so 

generous donating presents and their 

time on Christmas morning to hand out 

the gifts and spend some time with those 

patients who had no family close by.

“Patients were so touched by the gesture 

that many of our staff were moved to tears.

“It reminds you what Christmas 

is all about,” she said. 
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Our  
Stories.



Governance.

Townsville Hospital 
and Health Board 
The Townsville Hospital and Health Board 

is comprised of a Chair and members 

appointed by the Governor of Queensland, 

acting by, and with the advice of the 

Executive Council and under the provisions 

of the Hospital and Health Boards Act 

2011 (the Act). The Board, through the 

Chair, reports to the Minister for Health 

and Minister for Ambulance Services.

The Board sets the strategic direction for 

the hospital and health service delivering 

on key priorities for our communities.

The Board held 11 ordinary meetings and 

one additional meeting during the year. The 

term of office of Board member Dr Kevin 

Arlett, after service from 2012, expired 

during the reporting period on 17 May 

2017. Professor Ajay Rane commenced 

on the Board from 18 May 2017. 
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About our 
Board Members 
ton y moone y a m
Chair 

Tony Mooney was a Councillor and Deputy 

Mayor of the Townsville City Council and 

was elected Mayor in 1989. He held the 

position of Mayor of Townsville until 

2008. In 2008, Tony was made a Fellow 

of the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors. In 2011, Tony was awarded an 

Order of Australia (AM) for services to 

local government and the community. 

Tony served on the boards of numerous 

government and community entities, 

including Ergon Energy, LG Super, 

Townsville Entertainment Centre Board 

of Management (Chair) until 2008, and 

as the inaugural Chair of the Willows 

Stadium Joint Board (currently 1300 Smiles 

Stadium). In 2011, Tony was appointed by 

the Federal Government to the Board of the 

Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority 

where he served until 2016. Tony is also 

a director of the Northern Queensland 

Primary Health Network Limited. 

michelle morton
Deputy Chair

Michelle Morton is a Solicitor of the 

Supreme Court of Queensland, Managing 

Partner and Litigation/Workplace Relations 

Workgroup Partner at wilson/ryan/grose 

Lawyers. Michelle is currently the Chair of 

the Townsville Fire Limited and a member 

of the Advisory Board for the Salvation 

Army, Queensland Law Society, North 

Queensland Law Association and Townsville 

Solicitors Association. In 2003, Michelle 

was awarded the Queensland Regional 

Women’s Lawyer Award. In 2015, Michelle 

was awarded the Agnes McWhinney 

Award by the Queensland Law Society. 

dr ke v in arle t t 
(unt il  17 m ay 2017 )

Dr Kevin Arlett is a general practice partner 

in the Townsville and Suburban Medical 

Practice and the team physician for the 

Townsville Fire basketball team where he 

practises and hones his special interest 

and expertise in sports medicine. Kevin 

is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors, current Chair of 

Northern Australia Primary Health Ltd, 

Chair of Smart Arm Pty Ltd and a Director 

of Health Leaders Australia. Kevin is a 

Fellow of the Royal Australian College 

of General Practitioners and is heavily 

involved in medical education speaking at 

conferences and events, especially around 

his experience as a high-level sports doctor. 

towns ville hospital and he alth board at 30 june 2017 wa s: 
Back from left: Debra Burden, Professor Ajay Rane, Dr Eric Guazzo, Donald Whaleboat, Christopher Castles. Front from left: 
Sarah Kendall, Tony Mooney, Michelle Morton and Professor Ian Wronski. Absent: Professor Gracelyn Smallwood
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debr a burden 
Debra Burden, a degree-qualified 

accountant, is the Chief Executive Officer 

of NDIS provider Select Ability (formerly 

known as SOLAS and MIF-NQ). Debra 

has previously held CEO and executive 

management positions with Canegrowers 

Burdekin, Queensland Country Credit Union 

and Health Fund and ASX listed dental 

services company 1300SMILES. Debra’s 

business management expertise has been 

recognised with her being awarded the QLD 

Business Review Women in Business Award 

Winner (Business and Professional Services) 

and the Queensland Telstra Business 

Women’s Award Winner (Corporate Sector). 

Debra, a Fellow of both the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and 

the Australian Institute of Management, has 

extensive board level experience having 

successfully completed the AICD course 

twice and held Board positions in numerous 

companies as Chair, Deputy Chair, Treasurer, 

Chair of Audit and Risk Committee and 

Company Secretary, including currently 

holding the position of Deputy Chair 

of North and West Remote Health. 

christopher c a stles 
Chris Castles is a principal of the Ingham-

based accounting firm Coscer Accountants, 

as well as Zest Financial Solutions which has 

offices in Ingham, Townsville and Brisbane. 

Chris is a Certified Practising Accountant, 

Certified Financial Planner and Fellow of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Following his service in the Royal Australian 

Air Force, Chris has served as director 

and committee member for both listed 

and unlisted public companies involving 

international and domestic operations 

and spanning financial services, funds 

management, health and agribusiness. He 

is currently a director of Northern Australia 

Primary Health Ltd and a member of the 

Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. 

dr eric gua zzo oa m
Dr Eric Guazzo has been in combined 

public/private neurosurgery practice 

based in Townsville since 1994 and is the 

Director of Neurosurgery for the North 

Queensland region. Eric is a member and 

past president of the Neurosurgical Society 

of Australasia, Associate Professor at the 

James Cook University Medical School, 

deputy senior examiner in neurosurgery for 

the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons 

(RACS), member of the Academy of Surgical 

Educators of the RACS and Deputy Chair 

of the Neurology/Neurosurgery Medical 

Assessment Tribunal for the Queensland 

Compensation Regulatory Authority. He 

has served on many hospital and health 

committees and related boards. He is a 

Graduate of the Australian Institute of 

Company Directors and has a university 

qualification in Business Management. 

He completed his medical doctorate at 

the University of Cambridge. Eric was 

awarded the Order of Australia (OAM) in 

2013 for his services to neurosurgery. 

sar ah kendall
Sarah Kendall has extensive experience 

at a senior level in both the private and 

public sectors, specialising in social 

policy and education. A communications 

expert, Sarah is currently an Executive 

Officer for the Townsville City Council. 

Having lived and worked in a number of 

rural and disadvantaged communities, 

Sarah is a strong advocate for social 

justice and as a former President and 

Board member of Mindcare Queensland, 

she is particularly committed to raising 

awareness of mental health issues. 

professor a jay r ane oa m  
(from 18 m ay 2017 )

Professor Ajay Rane is the Director 

of Urogynaecology at The Townsville 

Hospital, Director of Mater Pelvic Health 

and Research, and Head of Obstetrics and 

Gynaecology at James Cook University. 

Born in England, Professor Rane completed 

his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor 

of Surgery at India’s University of Poona 

before returning to England to undertake 

sub-speciality training in urogynaecology. 

Professor Rane moved to Townsville as a 

consultant obstetrician and gynaecologist 

in 2000 joining the medical faculty at JCU 

where he also completed his PhD. Professor 

Rane was a finalist Australian of the Year 

in 2012 and awarded the Order of Australia 

(OAM) in 2013. Professor Rane has spent 

almost two decades treating and operating 

on women with catastrophic childbirth 

injuries in some of the world’s poorest 

countries and in 2016 received the Mahatma 

Gandhi Pravasi Award for Humanitarian 

Work in Women’s Health. Professor 

Rane is the current Chair of the Fistula 

Committee for the International Federation 

of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists and 

is leading the charge for fistula education 

and prevention in the developing world. 

professor gr acelyn 
sm allwood ao 
Professor Smallwood is a registered nurse, a 

registered midwife, and has also completed 

a Diploma in Indigenous Mental Health 

and was the first Indigenous Australian 

to receive a Masters of Science in Public 

Health ( James Cook University). In 2011, 

Professor Smallwood completed a PhD 

Thesis Human Rights and First Australians 

Well-being. In 2014, Professor Smallwood 

became a member of the Queensland 

Mental Health and Drug Advisory Council. In 

2015, Professor Smallwood was appointed 

as Member of the Harvard FXB Health and 

Human Rights Consortium, a Member of the 

Northern Queensland Primary Healthcare 

Network Clinical Council for the Townsville-

Mackay region, and a Member of the 

Federal Ministerial Advisory Committee 

on Blood-Borne Viruses and Sexually 

Transmissible Infections. Professsor 

Smallwood is a Professor of Nursing and 

Midwifery at Central Queensland University. 

robert ‘donald’ 
whaleboat
Donald Whaleboat is a senior lecturer 

at the College of Medicine and Dentistry 

and Associate Dean Indigenous Health, 

Division of Tropical Health and Medicine 

James Cook University. Donald has more 

than 20 years combined experience in 

primary healthcare, health promotion 

and workforce development, with 

particular focus on Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander peoples. Donald has 
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served as member of the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Board since 2012 

and member of the Board’s Safety and 

Quality Committee. He was former 

Chairperson of the Townsville Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander Corporation 

for Health Services for five years and 

championed good corporate governance 

for the organisation. He is a Graduate of 

Australian Institute of Company Directors 

and holds a Masters of Public Health. 

professor ian 
wronski ao
Professor Ian Wronski AO is Deputy Vice 

Chancellor of the Division of Tropical Health 

and Medicine at James Cook University. 

Professor Wronski is currently Chair of the 

Australian Council of Pro Vice Chancellors 

and Deans of Health Sciences, and a Board 

Member of the Asia-Pacific Economic 

Cooperation - Life Sciences Innovation 

Forum, and was previously President of 

the Australian College of Rural and Remote 

Medicine 2000-2003. Professor Wronski 

was awarded an Order of Australia (AO) 

in 2014 for his distinguished service 

to higher education, particularly in the 

areas of tropical and rural health and 

the health of Indigenous Australians.

board commit tees 

e xecutive commit tee
The Executive Committee is established 

under section 32A of the Hospital and 

Health Boards Act (the Act). In accordance 

with section 32B of the Act, the committee 

works with the Health Service Chief 

Executive to progress strategic issues, 

including those identified by the Board, and 

to strengthen the Board’s relationship with 

the HSCE to ensure accountability in the 

delivery of services by the Townsville HHS.

The key achievements of the 

committee in 2016-2017 were:

• Guiding the development of high-

level strategic planning for the 

Townsville HHS, including the 

2014-2018 Strategic Plan (2017 

Update), which sets out the Values, 

Purpose and Vision of the service 

• The establishment of a dedicated car-

parking steering group to advise and 

make recommendations to the Board 

in relation to staff and patient/visitor 

car parking within the Townsville HHS

• Providing oversight of robust and 

transparent governance arrangements 

for the development of a primary 

care centre on Palm Island, via a 

project control group consisting of 

representatives of Townsville HHS, 

Palm Island Aboriginal Shire Council, 

and the Department of Health.

safe t y and qualit y 
commit tee
The Safety and Quality Committee is 

established under section 31(1)(a) of the 

Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012 

(the Regulation). In accordance with section 

32 of the Regulation, the committee advises 

the Board on matters relating to, and 

promotes improvements in, the safety and 

Board Meeting
Finance 

Committee
Audit & Risk 
Committee

Executive 
Committee

Safety & 
Quality 

Committee

Stakeholder 
Engagement 
Committee

Number of meetings held 12 12 6 10 5 4

Name
Position  
(date originally 
appointed)

Current term Attendance

Tony Mooney AM
Chair and Member 
(18/05/2016)

18/05/2016 to 
17/05/2020 12 of 12 11 of 12 - 9 of 10 4 of 5 4 of 4

Michelle Morton
Deputy Chair 
and Member 
(27/07/2012)

18/05/2016 to 
17/05/2019 12 of 12 10 of 12 - 9 of 10 - 4 of 4

Dr Kevin Arlett
Member 
(29/06/2012)

18/05/2014 to 
17/05/2017 11 of 11 - - 7 of 8 4 of 5 -

Debra Burden
Member 
(18/05/2016)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2020 11 of 12 12 of 12 5 of 6 - - 3 of 4

Christopher Castles
Member 
(18/05/2016)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2019 12 of 12 12 of 12 - - - 4 of 4

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM
Member 
(29/06/2012)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2018 11 of 12 11 of 11 6 of 6 8 of 10 - -

Sarah Kendall
Member 
(18/05/2016)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2021 12 of 12 - - 9 of 10 - 4 of 4

Professor Ajay Rane OAM
Member 
(18/05/2017)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2020 1 of 1 0 of 1 - - - -

Professor Gracelyn Smallwood AO
Member 
(23/10/2015)

23/10/2016 to 
17/05/2019 10 of 12 - - 4 of 10 - 0 of 4

Robert ‘Donald’ Whaleboat
Member 
(27/07/2012)

18/05/2016 to 
17/05/2019 11 of 12 - 6 of 6 - 4 of 5 -

Professor Ian Wronski AO
Member 
(29/06/2012)

18/05/2017 to 
17/05/2019 9 of 12 - - 9 of 10 - -

The annual Board fees for the Chair are $85,714, and the Deputy Chair and members are $44,503. The annual fees for Committees are $4,000 for the designated Chair and $3,000 
for members per Committee. In total, $1,950.67 in out-of-pocket expenses was also paid to Board members during the reporting period. 

The table below shows the attendance record for the number of meetings Board members were eligible to attend. The Finance, Audit and 

Risk, Executive and Safety and Quality Committees are prescribed committees.
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quality of health services, by monitoring the 

Townsville HHS’s governance arrangements 

relating to the safety and quality of health 

services, monitoring the safety and 

quality of health services provided by 

Townsville HHS, and collaborating with 

other safety and quality committees. 

The key achievements of the 

committee in 2016-2017 were:

• Successfully guiding ongoing 

accreditation activities, resulting in 

all recommendations being closed 

and no new recommendations made 

from the ACHS Periodic Review 

• Overseeing almost more than $660,000 

funding for local investigator-initiated 

research studies, as committed by 

the Board, from the Townsville HHS. 

f inance commit tee 
The Finance Committee is established 

under section 31(1)(b) of the Regulation. 

In accordance with section 33 of the 

Regulation, the committee advises the 

Board on matters relating to overseeing 

financial performance and monitoring 

financial systems, financial strategy 

and policies, capital expenditure, cash 

flow, revenue and budgeting to ensure 

alignment with key strategic priorities 

and performance objectives. 

The key achievements of the 

committee in 2016-2017 were: 

• Continued refinement of reporting to 

facilitate strategic decision making 

• Continued monitoring of revenue 

and expenditure against operational 

requirements including reporting 

and other obligations under the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009 

• Continued focus on strategic 

financial issues, objectives, cash 

flow, financial performance and 

monitoring of financial risks that 

may impact financial performance 

• Overseeing delivery of a surplus 

operation result while achieving 

activity targets pursuant to 

the service agreement. 

audit and risk commit tee
The Audit and Risk Committee is 

established under section 31(1)(c) of 

the Regulation to provide independent 

assurance and assistance to the Board on: 

• Risk, control and compliance 

frameworks; and 

• External accountability responsibilities 

as provided in the Financial 

Accountability Act 2009, the Financial 

Accountability Regulation 2009, 

and the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2009. 

The Committee meets bi-monthly 

or as required by the Chair.

In 2016-2017, the Committee oversaw 

the review of the Risk Management 

Framework and considered nine new 

internal audit reports: Drugs Management, 

Clinical Incident Management, Aged 

Care, Mental Health, Pharmacy and 

Invoicing, Contract Management – 

Tendering, Digital Security – Third Party 

Information Management, Private Practice 

and Business Case Development.

The Committee operates under a charter 

and has due regard to the Queensland 

Treasury’s Audit Committee guidelines: 

Improving Accountability and Performance 

published in June 2012. The Chair of the 

Committee, Dr Eric Guazzo, provides 

a report to the Board about the issues 

and outcomes of each meeting.

Risk Management 

The Townsville HHS recognises that risk 

management is a key factor to informed 

decision making and is committed to 

proactively identifying and managing risks 

to support the achievement of objectives. 

The HHS Risk Management Framework 

complies with the Financial and 

Performance Management Standard 2009, 

and is aligned with the principles of AS/

NZS ISO 31000:2009. It is designed to 

proactively identify, assess, monitor 

and report strategic and operational 

risks. Risks are continuously reviewed 

and updated by the risk owner, with 

monitoring of risks achieved through 

regular reporting to the Executive 

Compliance and Risk Committee. Oversight 

of risks and the performance of the Risk 

Management Framework are provided by 

the Board Audit and Risk Committee. 

Areas of significant risk are identified as 

part of structured planning processes, 

or by committees or individuals in 

the course of performing their duties. 

Each risk is assigned a risk owner 

and managed in accordance with the 

Risk Management Framework. 

Internal audit 

To ensure the effective, efficient and 

economic operation of the internal audit 

function, the Townsville HHS internal 

audit operates under its own charter and 

reports directly to the Board Audit and Risk 

Committee. The charter aligns with the 

International Standards for Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing developed 

by the Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The primary role of internal audit is 

to conduct independent, objective 

and risk-based assurance activities. 

The scope of the work is set out in the 

approved Internal Audit Management 

Plan 2012-2017 and detailed in the 

Operational Internal Audit Plan 2016-17. 

The program was delivered through an 

outsourced contractual arrangement with 

PwC. In line with its Terms of Reference 

and having due regard to Queensland 

Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines, 

the Board Audit and Risk Committee 

oversaw delivery of the internal audit 

program including the review of report 

findings and management responses. 

External scrutiny 

Parliamentary reports tabled by the 

Auditor-General which considered 

the performance of the health 

services more broadly included:

• Efficient and effective use of high-value 

medical equipment (Report 10:2016-17)

• Hospital and Health Services: 

2015-16 results of financial 

audits (Report 9: 2016-17).
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The Townsville HHS considered 

the findings and recommendations 

contained in these reports and, where 

appropriate, has taken action to implement 

recommendations or address issues raised. 

stakeholder engagement 
commit tee 
The Stakeholder Engagement 

Committee was established to oversee 

the development and publishing of 

the following strategies required 

pursuant to section 40(1) of the 

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011: 

• Clinician Engagement Strategy to 

promote consultation with health 

professionals working in the service

• Consumer and Community Engagement 

Strategy to promote consultation with 

health consumers and members of 

the community about the provision 

of health services by the service. 

The committee meets to monitor and 

promote the Townsville HHS’s reputation by 

ensuring there is clear communication with 

the community including with respect to the 

promotion of activities and achievements 

of the Townsville HHS, and fostering 

existing and cultivating new relationships 

with internal and external stakeholders 

including consumers and the community. 

The committee oversaw the preparation 

of the first phase of a new stakeholder 

engagement plan to guide and improve 

engagement with stakeholders. 

non-board members 
of commit tees 
The Board was expertly assisted by 

non-Board members Bill Buckby and 

John Zabala (Audit and Risk), Dr Michael 

Corkeron, Ian Ferguson, Helen Towler 

and Ted Winterbottom (Safety and 

Quality), and Tricia Brand (Finance). 

inform ation s ystems  
and record keeping 
Management of patient records is the 

responsibility of Clinical Information 

Services. Patient records are subject to 

strict privacy and confidentiality provisions 

and management. The Townsville Hospital 

has transitioned from paper-based medical 

records to a digital medical records 

system, iEMR. Administrative records are 

managed within RecFind, an electronic 

document record management system. 

All employees are made aware of their 

obligations and responsibility regarding 

security and confidentiality and to ensuring 

that all document management is carried 

out in line with these provisions. 

In accordance with section 160 of the 

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the 

Townsville HHS is required to include a 

statement in its annual report detailing the 

disclosure of confidential information in the 

public interest. There were no disclosures 

under this provision during 2016-2017.



Financial 
Statements.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2017

  2017 2016

 Notes $'000 $'000

Income    

User charges B1-1 873,719 831,460

Grants and other contributions B1-2 26,008 26,910

Other revenue B1-3 5,217 6,042

Total Income  904,944 864,412

Expenses    

Employee expenses B2-1 (638,179) (608,381)

Supplies and services B2-2 (204,120) (199,253)

Grants and subsidies  (2,912) (3,772)

Depreciation and amortisation  C4-1 (40,368) (39,790)

Bad and doubtful debts  (2,857) (1,786)

Other expenses B2-3 (9,221) (9,937)

Total Expenses  (897,657) (862,919)

Operating result for the year  7,287 1,493

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss

Increase in asset revaluation surplus

 

 

 

 

 

43,599

 

934

Other comprehensive income for the year  43,599 934

Total comprehensive income for the year  50,886 2,427
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2017

  2017 2016

 Notes $'000 $'000

Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents C1 48,723 52,134

Trade and other receivables C2 20,490 18,855

Inventories  7,874 7,214

Prepayments  1,765 1,383

Total current assets  78,852 79,586

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment  C4 781,757 736,837

Intangibles  6,366 653

Total non-current assets  788,123 737,490

Total assets  866,975 817,076

Liabilities    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables  23,347 20,714

Accrued employee benefits  22,814 20,408

Unearned revenue  2,979 455

Total current liabilities  49,140 41,577

Total liabilities  49,140 41,577

Net assets  817,835 775,499

EQUITY    

Contributed equity C7-1 648,157 656,707

Asset revaluation surplus C7-2 112,836 69,237

Accumulated surpluses  56,842 49,555

Total equity  817,835 775,499
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2017

 

Contributed 

equity

Asset 

revaluation 

surplus

Accumulated 

surpluses

Total  

equity

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2015 660,342 68,303 48,062 776,707

Operating result for the year - - 1,493 1,493

Other comprehensive income for the year - 934 - 934

Total comprehensive income for the year - 934 1,493 2,427

Transactions with members in their capacity as members:     

Non - appropriated equity asset transfers 21,631 - - 21,631

Non - appropriated equity injections 14,551 - - 14,551

Non - appropriated equity withdrawals (39,817) - - (39,817)

Balance at 30 June 2016 656,707 69,237 49,555 775,499

 

Contributed 

equity 

Asset 

revaluation 

surplus

Accumulated 

surpluses

Total  

equity

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2016 656,707 69,237 49,555 775,499

Operating result for the year - - 7,287 7,287

Other comprehensive income for the year - 43,599 - 43,599

Total comprehensive income for the year - 43,599 7,287 50,886

Transactions with members in their capacity as members:     

Non - appropriated equity asset transfers 10,485 - - 10,485

Non - appropriated equity injections 21,333 - - 21,333

Non - appropriated equity withdrawals (40,368) - - (40,368)

Balance at 30 June 2017 648,157 112,836 56,842 817,835
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2017

 2017 2016

 Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities    

User charges  828,954 787,762

Grants and other contributions  26,008 26,154

Interest received  360 395

Other revenue  7,414 5,647

Employee expenses  (635,773) (604,003)

Supplies and services  (202,944) (210,110)

Grants and subsidies  (2,497) (3,772)

Other expenses  (9,055) (9,633)

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities  12,467 (7,560)

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant, equipment & intangibles  (37,211) (26,659)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 24

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities  (37,211) (26,635)

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from equity injections  21,333 14,551

Net cash from/(used by) financing activities  21,333 14,551

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (3,411) (19,644)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  52,134 71,778

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year C1 48,723 52,134

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 7,287 1,493

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation 40,368 39,790

Impairment losses on receivables 2,857 1,786

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets 295 304

Revenue - contribution to DOH capital works in progress program (40,369) (39,817)

Assets donated revenue - non cash* - -

Increase in GST receivables (129)  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:   

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (4,363) (3,881)

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (660) (1,096)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (382) (866)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2,633 (8,895)

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 2,406 4,378

Increase in salary and wages - -

Increase/(decrease) in unearned revenue 2,524 (756)

Net cash from operating activities 12,467 (7,560)
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Basis of Financial 
Statement Preparation
General Information

The financial report covers Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

(Townsville HHS/HHS) as an individual entity. The financial report is 

presented in Australian dollars, which are Townsville Hospital and 

Health Service’s functional and presentation currency. Amounts 

included in the financial statements have been rounded to the 

nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

Townsville Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the 

State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent entity.

The head office and principal place of business of the agency is:

100 Angus Smith Drive,

Townsville Qld 4810

Controlled entities

The Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

does not have any controlled entities.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 

section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 

43 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009. 

There were no material restatements of comparative information 

required to ensure consistency with current period disclosures.

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements 

and have been prepared on a historical cost basis in accordance 

with all applicable new and amended Australian Accounting 

Standards and Interpretations, applicable to not-for-profit entities, 

except where stated otherwise. Townsville HHS is a not-for-profit 

entity and the financial statements comply with the requirements 

of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations.  

These financial statements comply with Queensland 

Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for year ended 

30 June 2017, and other authoritative pronouncements. 

Authorisation of financial statements for issue

The general purpose financial statements are authorised 

for issue by the Chair and the Chief Finance Officer, at 

the date of signing the Management Certificate.

Further information

For information in relation to the Townsville 

HHS’s financial statements:

• Email tsv-public-affairs@health.qld.gov.au or

• Visit the THHS website at: www.townsville.health.qld.gov.au 

 

sec tion a  

How We Operate –  
Townsville HHS 
Objectives and 
Activities
A1 OBJECTIVES OF TOWNSVILLE HHS

The Townsville HHS is an independent statutory body established 

on 1 July 2012 under the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

(The Act). The Townsville HHS is governed by the Board, which is 

accountable to the local community and the Minister for Health.

The Townsville HHS is responsible for providing primary health, 

community health and hospital services in the area assigned 

under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012. The 

Townsville HHS covers an area of more than 148,000 square 

kilometres, around 8.5 per cent of Queensland, and serves a 

population of approximately 240,000. The catchment area and 

population of the Townsville HHS is more than 750,000 square 

kilometres and 670,000 people. Townsville HHS includes the 

Local Government Areas of Burdekin, Charters Towers, Flinders, 

Hinchinbrook, Palm Island, Richmond and Townsville and shares 

its borders with Cairns and Hinterland Hospital and Health Service, 

North West Hospital and Health Service, Central West Hospital 

and Health Service and Mackay Hospital and Health Service.

Funding is obtained predominately through the purchase 

of health services by the Department of Health (DOH/

the Department) on behalf of both the state and Australian 

Governments.  In addition, health services are provided on 

a fee-for-service basis mainly for private patient care.

Please refer to the Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

Annual Report 2016–2017 for more information.

Investment in Northern Queensland Primary Health Network

Northern Queensland Primary Health Network (NQPHN) was 

established as a public company limited by guarantee on 22 

May 2015. Townsville HHS is one of the members along with 

Torres and Cape Hospital and Health Service, Cairns and 

Hinterland Hospital and Health Service, Mackay Hospital and 

Health Service, Pharmacy Guild of Australia (Queensland 

Branch) and The Australian College of Rural and Remote 

Medicine with each member holding one vote in the company. 

The principal place of business of NQPHN is 42 Spence St, 

Cairns, Queensland. The company’s principal purpose is 

to work with general practitioners, other Primary Health 

Care providers, community health services, pharmacists 

and hospitals in Queensland to improve and coordinate 

primary health care across the local health system for 

patients requiring care from multiple providers.
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As each member has the same voting entitlement, it is considered 

that none of the individual members has power over NQPHN (as 

defined by AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements) and, 

therefore, none of the members individually control NQPHN. 

While Townsville HHS currently has 16.66 per cent of the voting 

power of the NQPHN and the fact that every other member 

also has 16.66 per cent voting power, it limits the extent of any 

influence that the Townsville HHS may have over NQPHN.

Each member’s liability to NQPHN is limited to $10.  NQPHN is 

legally prevented from paying dividends to its members and its 

constitution also prevents any income or property of the Company 

being transferred directly or indirectly to or amongst the Members. 

As NQPHN is not controlled by the Townsville HHS and 

is not considered a joint operation or an associate of 

the Townsville HHS, financial results of NQPHN are not 

required to be disclosed in these statements.

sec tion b  

Notes About  
Financial Performance
This section considers the income and expenses 

of Townsville Hospital and Health Service. 

B1 INCOME

Note B1-1: User charges   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Department of Health   

Activity based funding 350,684 374,846

Block funding 61,841 61,584

Tertiary training 19,164 18,212

System funding 78,657 39,234

Depreciation funding 40,369 39,788

Total Department of Health Funding 550,715 533,664

Australian Government   

Activity based funding 226,543 200,277

Block funding 35,644 34,102

Tertiary training 3,122 2,584

Total Australian Government Funding 265,309 236,963

Other user charges   

Service income and recoveries 2,157 2,882

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme 12,740 12,941

Public patient income 12,991 11,831

Private hospital bed income 11,760 12,855

Other hospital services 18,047 20,324

Total other user charges 57,695 60,833

Total user charges 873,719 831,460

User Charges and Fees, and Other Revenue

Funding is provided predominantly by the Department of Health 

for specific public health services purchased by the Department 

in accordance with a service agreement. The Department of 

Health receives its revenue for funding from the Queensland 

Government (majority of funding) and the Commonwealth.  Activity 

based funding is based on an agreed number of activities, per 

the service agreement and a state-wide price by which relevant 

activities are funded.  Block funding is not based on levels of 

public health care activity.  The service agreement is reviewed 

periodically and updated for changes in activities and prices of 

services delivered by the Townsville HHS. The funding from the 

Department of Health is received fortnightly in advance.  At the end 

of the financial year, a financial adjustment may be required where 

the level of service provided is above or below the agreed level.  

The service agreement between the Department of Health and the 

Townsville HHS specifies that the Department of Health funds the 

HHS’s depreciation and amortisation charges via non-cash revenue. 

The Department of Health retains the cash to fund future major 

capital replacements. This transaction is shown in the Statement 

of Changes in Equity as a non-appropriated equity withdrawal.

Revenue from other user charges is recognised when the 

service is rendered and can be measured reliably with a 

sufficient degree of certainty. This involves either invoicing 

for related goods/services and/or the recognition of accrued 

revenue. Revenue in this category primarily consists 

of hospital fees (private patients), reimbursements of 

pharmaceutical benefits and the sale of goods and services.

Note B1-2: Grants and other contributions   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Australian Government   

Specific-purpose recurrent grants 20,744 22,703

Specific-purpose capital grants 797 464

Total Australian Government grants 21,541 23,167

Other grants and contributions   

Other grants 4,385 3,562

Donations other 72 176

Donations non-current physical assets 10 5

Total other grants and contributions 4,467 3,743

Total grants and contributions 26,008 26,910

Grants and contributions

Grants, contributions, donations and gifts that are non-reciprocal 

in nature are recognised as revenue in the year in which the 

Townsville HHS obtains control over them (control is generally 

obtained at the time of receipt). Where grants are received that 

are reciprocal in nature, revenue is progressively recognised as 

it is earned, according to the terms of the funding agreements.
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Where the Townsville HHS receives contributions of assets from 

the government, these assets are recognised at fair value on 

the date of acquisition in the Statement of Financial Position. A 

corresponding amount is recognised as an equity contribution.

Where the Townsville HHS receives contributions of assets from 

other parties, these assets are recognised at fair value on the 

date of acquisition in the Statement of Financial Position. A 

corresponding amount of revenue is recognised as a donation.

Note B1-3: Other revenue   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Interest 360 395

Rental income 159 238

Sale proceeds of non-capitalised assets 8 -

Health service employee 

expense recoveries

1,028 1,870

Fees, charges & recoveries 3,634 3,464

Gain on sale of property 

plant and equipment

28 75

Total other revenue 5,217 6,042

Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive the 

revenue has been established. Revenue is measured at the 

fair value of the consideration received, or receivable.

 

B2 EXPENSES

Note B2-1: Employee expenses   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

WorkCover expenses 4,059 3,470

Wages and salaries 479,161 455,675

Annual leave levy 58,494 56,533

Long service leave levy 10,697 10,203

Employer super contribution 51,874 49,689

Termination expenses 266 341

Other employee related expenses 33,628 32,470

Total employee expenses 638,179 608,381

The Townsville HHS pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland 

in respect of its obligations for employee compensation 

related to workplace injuries, health & safety.

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of 

employing employees, but is not counted in an employee's 

total remuneration package. It is not an employee benefit and 

is recognised separately as employee-related expenses.

At 30 June 2017, the number of full-time equivalent staff 

employed by the Townsville HHS was 5,120 (2016: 5,191).

Employee Expenses

At 30 June 2017 accrued salaries and wages (for wages and salaries 

earned but not paid as at 30 June 2017) are represented in the 

Statement of Financial Position as ‘accrued employee benefits’.

Employee Benefits

Employer superannuation contributions, annual leave levies and 

long service leave levies are regarded as employee benefits.  

(i) Wages, Salaries and Sick Leave

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current 

salary rates. As the Townsville HHS expects such liabilities 

to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, the 

liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken 

each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. 

This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, 

it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be 

used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave 

entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, 

an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

(ii) Annual and Long Service Leave

The Townsville HHS participates in the Annual Leave 

Central Scheme and the Long Service Leave Scheme.

Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme 

and the Long Service Leave Central Scheme, levies are payable 

by the Townsville HHS to cover the cost of employees’ annual 

leave (including leave loading and on-costs) and long service 

leave. These levies are expensed in the period in which they are 

payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long 

service leave are claimed from the schemes quarterly in arrears 

which is currently facilitated by the Department of Health.

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in 

the financial statements of the Townsville HHS, as the liability for 

these schemes is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported 

in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole-of-

Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

(iii) Superannuation

Employer superannuation contributions are 

regarded as employee benefits.

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the 

superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, 

at rates determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State 

Actuary. Contributions are expensed in the period in which they 

are paid or payable and the Townsville HHS’s obligation is limited 

to its contribution to QSuper. The QSuper scheme has defined 

benefit and defined contribution categories. The liability for defined 

benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported 

in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole-of-

Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.
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Note B2-2: Supplies and services   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Consultants and contractors 15,874 16,824

Electricity and other energy 8,358 7,997

Patient travel 13,440 12,562

Other travel 2,531 2,887

Water 1,146 1,231

Building services 1,301 1,376

Computer services 4,095 3,950

Motor vehicles 418 389

Communications 9,380 9,080

Repairs and maintenance 14,291 14,180

Expenses relating to capital works 1,970 1,263

Operating lease rentals 3,765 3,799

Drugs 27,795 29,699

Clinical supplies and services 78,868 76,540

Catering and domestic supplies 12,605 11,805

Other supplies and services 8,283 5,671

Total supplies and services 204,120 199,253

Supplies and Services

Contributions of services are recognised only if the services 

would have been purchased if they had not been donated and 

their fair value can be measured reliably. When this is the case, 

an equal amount is recognised as revenue and an expense.

The Townsville HHS receives corporate services support 

from the Department of Health for no cost.  Corporate 

services received include payroll services, accounts payable 

services, finance transactional services and taxation 

services. As the fair value of these services is unable to be 

estimated reliably, no associated revenue and expense are 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Note B2-3: Other expenses   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Audit fees* 764 537

Bank fees 31 24

Insurance** 7,798 7,840

Inventory written off 49 39

Losses from the disposal of non-current assets (928) 284

Special payments - ex gratia payments*** 143 130

Other legal costs 378 235

Journals and subscriptions 535 256

Advertising 148 289

Interpreter fees 104 71

Fees, fines and other charges 194 215

Other 5 17

Total other expenses 9,221 9,937

* During the financial year $225,000 fees were paid or payable 
for services provided by Queensland Audit Office, the auditor of 
the agency (2016: $230,000). The HHS paid $539,000 to other 
service providers for internal audit services (2016: $452,749). 

** Includes Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF) 

*** Special payments ex-gratia includes gifts and settlements in the nature 
of damages including loss or damage to a patient’s personal effects.

Special Payments

Special payments include ex-gratia expenditure and other 

expenditure that the Townsville HHS is not contractually or 

legally obligated to make to other parties. In compliance with 

the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009, the 

Townsville HHS maintains a register setting out details of all special 

payments exceeding $5,000. The total of all special payments 

(including those of $5,000 or less) is disclosed separately above.

Insurance

The Insurance Arrangements for Public Health Entities Health 

Service Directive (Directive number QH-HSD-011:2012) 

enables hospital and health services to be named insured 

parties under the Department of Health policy. For the 2016-

2017 policy year, the premium was allocated to each hospital 

and health service according to the underlying risk of an 

individual insured party. The hospital and health service 

premiums cover claims from 1 July 2012. Pre 1 July 2012 claims 

remain the responsibility of the Department of Health.

Property and general losses above a $10,000 threshold are 

insured through the Queensland Government Insurance Fund 

(QGIF). Health litigation payments above a $20,000 threshold 

and associated legal fees are also insured through QGIF. 

Premiums are calculated by QGIF on a risk-assessed basis.

The Department of Health pays premiums to WorkCover 

Queensland on behalf of all hospital and health services in 

respect of its obligations for employee compensation. These 

costs are reimbursed on a monthly basis to the Department.
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sec tion c  

Notes About Our 
Financial Position
This section provides information on the assets 

used in the operation of the Townsville HHS’s service 

and the liabilities incurred as a result.

C1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Cash at bank and on hand 36,625 40,254

Restricted cash* 12,098 11,880

Total cash and cash equivalents 48,723 52,134

*Refer to F2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include all cash and cheques receipted 

at 30 June as well as deposits with financial institutions. 

General Trust Funds are managed on an accrual basis and form 

part of the annual general purpose financial statements. This 

money is controlled by the Townsville HHS and forms part of 

the cash and cash equivalents balance; however, it is restricted 

as it can only be used for specific purposes. The restricted 

cash balances are invested under the whole-of-government 

arrangements with Queensland Treasury Corporation. 

C2 RECEIVABLES

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Trade receivables 21,029 18,750

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (1,890) (1,117)

 19,139 17,633

GST input tax credits receivable 1,571 1,425

GST payable (220) (203)

 1,351 1,222

Total receivables 20,490 18,855

Trade receivables are recognised at the nominal amounts 

due at the time of sale or service delivery i.e. the agreed 

purchase/contract price. Settlement of these amounts 

is required within 30 days from invoice date.

Receivables

Receivables are measured at their carrying amount less 

any impairment, which approximates their fair value at 

reporting date. The collectability of receivables is assessed 

periodically with provision being made for impairment. 

The Townsville HHS assesses whether there is objective 

evidence that receivables are impaired or uncollectible on an 

ongoing basis. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties 

of the debtor, changes in debtor credit ratings and default or 

delinquency in payments (more than 120 days overdue). When 

there is evidence that an amount will not be collected it is 

provided for and then written off. If receivables are subsequently 

recovered the amounts are credited against other expenses in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income when collected.

All known bad debts were written off as at 30 June. 

Increases in the allowance for impairment are 

based on loss events that have occurred.
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Financial assets (receivables) not impaired 2017 ($'000)

 1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 

overdue

61 - 90 days 

overdue

More than 90 

days overdue

Total

Receivables 13,015 1,340 1,148 3,636 19,139

Financial assets (receivables) not impaired 2016 ($'000)

 1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 

overdue

61 - 90 days 

overdue

More than 90 

days overdue

Total

Receivables 13,048 1,410 1,058 2,117 17,633

Individually impaired financial assets 

(receivables) 2017 ($'000)

  1 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 

overdue

61 - 90 days 

overdue

More than 90 

days overdue

Total

Receivables (gross) 56 37 128 1,669 1,890

Allowance for impairment (56) (37) (128) (1,669) (1,890)

Carrying amount - - - - -

Individually impaired financial assets (receivables) 2016 ($'000)

1 - 30 

days

31 - 60 days 

overdue

61 - 90 days 

overdue

More than 90 

days overdue

Total

Receivables (gross) 52 38 27 1,000 1,117

Allowance for impairment (52) (38) (27) (1,000) (1,117)

Carrying amount - - - - -

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Opening balance 1,117 2,335

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (2,085) (3,004)

Additional provisions recognised 2,858 1,786

Closing balance 1,890 1,117

C3 INVENTORIES 

Inventories consist mainly of pharmaceutical and clinical supplies held for distribution. Inventories are measured at cost following 

periodic assessments for obsolescence. Where damaged or expired items have been identified, provisions are made for impairment.
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C4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 Land Buildings Plant and 

equipment

Capital works 

in progress

Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 30 June 2015 31,035 637,527 57,660 1,918 728,140

Additions 45 - 9,385 16,646 26,076

Disposals - - (325) - (325)

Revaluation increments - 1,379 - - 1,379

Revaluation decrements (445) - - - (445)

Transfers in  18,178 158 3,433 21,769

Transfers out - - (138) - (138)

Transfers between classes - 12,340 (36) (12,304) -

Adjustment to accumulated depreciation on transfers in - - - - -

Depreciation expense - (27,299) (12,320) - (39,619)

Balance at 30 June 2016 30,635 642,125 54,384 9,693 736,837

Additions  3,689 12,575 20,947 37,211

Disposals - - (295) - (295)

Revaluation increments 29,289 14,310 - - 43,599

Revaluation decrements - - - - -

Transfers in - 9,474 1,099 - 10,573

Transfers out (86) - (1) - (87)

Transfers between classes - 13,298 2,215 (22,214) (6,701)

Adjustment to accumulated depreciation on transfers in - - - - -

Depreciation expense - (27,045) (12,335) - (39,380)

Balance at 30 June 2017 59,838 655,851 57,642 8,426 781,757

NB: adjustments have been made to accumulated depreciation to recognise assets transferred in and out of the Townsville HHS.

Note C4-2: Accounting Policies

Property, Plant and Equipment

Recognition threshold for property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value equal to more than the following thresholds, and with a 

useful life of more than one year, are recognised at acquisition.  Items below these values are expensed on acquisition.

Class Threshold

Land $1

Buildings and Land Improvements $10,000

Plant and Equipment $5,000

Key Judgement: Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance 

expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and tear, for example) is expensed.

Acquisition of Assets

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current asset acquisitions.  Cost is determined as the value given as consideration plus 

costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use.

Assets under construction are at cost until they are ready for use. The construction of major health infrastructure assets is managed by the 

Department of Health on behalf of the THHS. These assets are assessed at fair value upon practical completion by an independent valuer. 

They are then transferred from Department of Health to the HHS via an equity adjustment.

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government entity (whether as a result of a machinery-of-government 

change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised at the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor 

immediately prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation.
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Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government 

entity, are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment.  

Subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value as required by Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the 

Queensland Public Sector.  These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any 

subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses where applicable. The cost of items acquired during 

the financial year has been judged by management to materially represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s 

Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amounts for such plant and equipment at cost are not materially 

different from their fair value.

Depreciation 

Land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the revalued amount or net cost of each asset 

(respectively), less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the Townsville HHS.

Assets under construction are not depreciated until ready for use.

Any expenditure that increases the capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and depreciated over the remaining useful life of 

the asset to the Townsville HHS.

Key Estimate: The depreciation rate is determined by application of appropriate useful life to relevant non-current asset classes. The useful 

lives could change significantly as a result of change in use of the asset, technical obsolescence or some other economic event. The impact 

on depreciation can be significant and also could result in a write-off of the asset.

For each class of depreciable assets the following depreciation rates are used:

Class Rate

Buildings 2.5% to 3.3%

Plant and equipment 5% to 33.33%

Impairment of non-current assets

All non-current physical and intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis.  If an indicator of possible 

impairment exists, the Townsville HHS determines the asset’s recoverable amount.  Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.

The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement costs. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount.  

When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class 

to the extent available.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 

amount but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset is 

carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment at fair value

Where an asset is revalued using a market or an income valuation approach, any accumulated impairment losses at that date are eliminated 

against the gross amount of the asset prior to restating for the revaluation.

Revaluations using an independent professional valuer are undertaken using a rolling revaluation plan over five years. However, if a 

particular asset class experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting 

period, where practicable, regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal.

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up to date via the 

application of relevant indices.  The Townsville HHS ensures that the application of such indices results in a valid estimation of the assets' 

fair values at reporting date. 

The valuer supplies the indices used for the various types of assets.  Such indices are either publicly available, or are derived from market 

information available to the valuer.  The valuer provides assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to the 

relevant assets.  
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Revaluation increments are credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation 

decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense.  A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, 

to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset class.

The Townsville HHS has adopted the gross method of reporting revalued assets whereby any revaluation increment arising on the 

revaluation of an asset is credited to the asset revaluation surplus of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a revaluation 

decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an expense, 

to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset class.

Note C4-3: Valuation      

Land

For financial reporting purposes, the land and building revaluation process is overseen by the Board and coordinated by senior 

management and support staff.

Key Judgement: The fair values reported by the Townsville HHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximise the use of 

available and relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.

Land is measured at fair value using indexation or asset-specific independent revaluations, being provided by an independent quantity 

surveyor, AECOM Australia Pty Ltd. Independent asset specific revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure land assets 

are carried at fair value. 

Land indices are based on actual market movements for the relevant locations and asset category and are applied to the fair value of land 

assets on hand. Independent land revaluations were conducted utilising comparative market analysis data as at May 2017. 

Buildings

Reflecting the specialised nature of health service buildings, fair value is determined by applying replacement cost methodology or an 

index which approximates movement in market prices for construction labour and other key resource inputs, as well as changes in design 

standards as at reporting date. Both methodologies are executed on behalf of the Townsville HHS by an independent quantity surveyor 

AECOM Australia Pty Ltd. The THHS undertakes a three year rolling revaluation plan for valuation of assets. Assets not revalued in year are 

adjusted through the application of indices.

The valuation methodology for the independent valuation uses historical and current construction costs. The replacement cost of each 

building at date of valuation is determined by taking into account Townsville location factors and comparing against current construction 

costs. The valuation is provided for a replacement building of the same size, shape and functionality that meets current design standards, 

and is based on estimates of gross floor area, number of floors, building girth and height and existing lifts and staircases.

This method makes an adjustment to the replacement cost of the modern-day equivalent building for any utility embodied in the modern 

substitute that is not present in the existing asset (e.g. mobility support) to give a gross replacement cost that is of comparable utility 

(the modern equivalent asset). The methodology makes further adjustment to total estimated life taking into consideration physical 

obsolescence impacting on the remaining useful life to arrive to the current replacement cost via straight-line depreciation.

For residential buildings held by the Townsville HHS on separate land titles, fair value is determined by reference to independent market revaluations.

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and the change in 

the estimate of remaining useful life.

Assets under construction are not revalued until they are ready for use.

Change in key estimates and judgements:

The Townsville HHS has adopted a refined replacement cost methodology for building valuation as outlined above. The previous 

methodology was a depreciated replacement cost which was determined as the replacement cost less the cost to bring an asset to current 

standards. This method did not adjust for any utility embodied in the modern substitute that is not present in the existing asset. The THHS 

revalued 75 per cent of the total building asset value during FY 2016-2017 using independent valuation and 25 per cent were revalued with 

the application of an index. The net impact of the change in methodology was a 1.9 per cent increase in building values for the year ended 

30 June 2017.

C5 PAYABLES

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed purchase/contract price, gross 

of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30-day terms.

Trade payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting date.
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C6 UNEARNED REVENUE

Monies received in advance primarily for services yet to be provided are represented as unearned revenue.

C7 EQUITY

Note C7-1: Equity - contributed   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Opening balance at beginning of year 656,707 660,342

Non-appropriated equity injections   

Minor capital funding 21,333 14,551

Non-appropriated equity withdrawals   

Non-cash depreciation funding returned to Department of Health 

as a contribution towards capital works program

(40,368) (39,817)

Non-appropriated equity asset transfers 10,485 21,631

Net equity injections and equity withdrawals for the period 648,157 656,707

Equity contributions consist of cash funds provided for minor capital works $21,333,333 during 2017 ($14,550,514 during 2016) and assets 

transferred to the Townsville HHS $10,484,395 during 2017 ($21,631,935 during 2016). Equity withdrawals represent the contribution towards

the capital works program undertaken by the Department of Health on behalf of the Townsville HHS.

Capital for the Townsville HHS comprises accumulated surpluses and contributed equity. When managing capital, management’s objective

is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to meet service delivery outcomes.

Note C7-2: Asset Revaluation Surplus   

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Land

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 855 1,300

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 29,289 (445)

 30,144 855

Buildings   

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 68,382 67,003

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 14,310 1,379

 82,692 68,382

Balance at the end of the financial year 112,836 69,237

The asset revaluation surplus represents the net effect of revaluation movements in assets. 
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sec tion d  

Notes About Risks 
and Other Accounting 
Uncertainties
D1 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 

in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date under current market conditions (ie. an exit 

price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from 

observable inputs or estimated using another valuation technique.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the 

characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued, and include, 

but are not limited to, published sales data for land.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that 

are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics 

of the assets/liabilities being valued.   Significant unobservable 

inputs used by the Townsville HHS include, but are not limited 

to, subjective adjustments made to observable data to take 

account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and 

on hospital-site residential facilities, including historical and 

current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), 

and assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life.  

Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant 

and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/

liabilities.

A fair-value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account 

a market participant's ability to generate economic benefit by using 

the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 

market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best 

use.

All assets and liabilities of the Townsville HHS for which fair value is 

measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and 

assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals:

- Level 1: represents fair value measurements that reflect 

unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical 

assets and liabilities;

- Level 2: represents fair value measurements that are substantially 

derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included in level 1) 

that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3: represents fair value measurements that are substantially 

derived from unobservable inputs.

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets     

Land - 59,838 - 59,838

Buildings - 1,439 654,412 655,851

Total assets - 61,277 654,412 715,689

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets     

Land - 30,635 - 30,635

Buildings - 1,527 640,598 642,125

Total assets - 32,162 640,598 672,760

D2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a 

financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 

instrument of another entity. The Townsville HHS holds financial 

instruments in the form of cash, receivables and payables.

Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the 

Statement of Financial Position when the Townsville HHS becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Classification

Financial instruments are classified and measured as follows:

• Cash and cash equivalents – held at fair-value

• Receivables – held at amortised cost

•  Payables – held at amortised cost

The Townsville HHS does not enter into transactions for speculative 

purposes, or for hedging. Apart from cash and cash equivalents, the 

HHS holds no financial assets classified at fair-value through profit 

or loss.

The HHS is exposed to a variety of financial risks – credit risk, 

liquidity risk and market risk. The HHS holds the following financial 

instruments by category:

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Financial Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 48,723 52,134

Trade and other receivables 19,139 17,633

Net GST input tax credits receivable 1,351 1,222

Total Financial Assets 69,213 70,989

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Financial Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 21,837 20,714

Total Financial Liabilities 21,837 20,714
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Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives (finance) 

under policies approved by the Townsville Hospital and Health Board. 

These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure 

of the Townsville HHS and appropriate procedures, controls and risk 

limits. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis.

Risk Exposure      Measurement method 

Credit risk             Ageing analysis, cash inflows at risk 

Liquidity risk         Monitoring of cash flows by management for 

short term obligations

Market risk           Interest rate sensitivity analysis

(a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential for financial loss arising from a 

counterparty defaulting on its obligations. The maximum exposure 

to credit risk at balance date is equal to the gross carrying amount 

of the financial assets, inclusive of any allowance for impairment. 

The carrying amount of receivables represents the maximum 

exposure to credit risk.

Credit risk on cash deposits is considered minimal given all 

Townsville HHS deposits are held by the State through Queensland 

Treasury Corporation and the Commonwealth Bank of Australia and, 

as such, any reasonable change to trading terms has been assessed 

not to have a material impact on the Townsville HHS.

No collateral is held as security over trade receivables. Allowances 

for impairment reflect the occurrence of loss events. The most 

readily identifiable loss event is where a debtor is overdue in 

paying a debt according to the due date. Ageing of past due but not 

impaired as well as impaired financial assets are disclosed in the 

following tables:

Ageing of past due but not impaired as well as impaired financial 

assets are disclosed in Note C2.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Townsville HHS will not have the 

resources required at a particular time to meet its obligations to 

settle its financial liabilities.

The Townsville HHS is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in 

the normal course of business. The Townsville HHS aims to reduce 

the exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring that sufficient funds are 

available to meet employee and supplier obligations at all times. 

The Townsville HHS has an approved overdraft facility of $7.5 million 

under whole-of-government banking arrangements to manage any 

short-term cash shortfall.  As at 30 June 2017, the HHS had not 

drawn down on this facility.

(c) Market risk

The Townsville HHS is not exposed to fluctuations in market prices; 

market-risk exposure is limited to interest-rate risk.

Townsville HHS’s only interest-rate risk exposure is on its 24-hour call 

deposits, which are limited to the balance as disclosed in Note C1.

The impact of a reasonably possible change in interest rates has 

been assessed not to have a material impact on the Townsville HHS.

(d) Fair value measurement

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. All other 

financial assets or liabilities are measured at cost less any 

allowance for impairment, which given the short-term nature of 

these assets, is assumed to represent fair value.

D3 CONTINGENCIES 

(a) Litigation in Progress

As at 30 June 2017, the following cases were filed in the courts 

naming the State of Queensland acting through the Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service as defendant:

 No. of 

cases 

(2017)

New 

Cases

Completed 

cases

No. of 

cases 

(2016)

Court     

Health Litigation 44 11 30 63

General Liability 7 4 3 6

Property 1 - - 1

 52 15 33 70

Health litigation is underwritten by the Queensland Government 

Insurance Fund (QGIF).  The Townsville HHS’s liability in this area 

is limited to an excess per insurance event of $20,000 for Health 

Litigation claims and $10,000 for General Liability and Property claims.

The Townsville HHS’s legal advisers and management believe it 

would be misleading to estimate the final amounts payable (if 

any) in respect of the litigation before the courts at this time, 

but do not anticipate that the amount would exceed $960,000 

(2016:$1,330,000), being the utmost deductible amount being 

payable, based on the claims reflected above.  

D4 COMMITMENTS

The HHS has non-cancellable operating leases relating predominantly 

to office and residential accommodation and vehicles. Lease 

payments are generally fixed, but with escalation clauses on which 

contingent rentals are determined. No lease arrangements contain 

restrictions on financing or other leasing activities.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-

cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 

2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Capital expenditure commitments

Committed at reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities, payable:

Property, plant and equipment

 

 

3,107

 

 

2,696

 3,107 2,696

Lease commitments - operating

Committed at reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities, payable:

within one year

 

 

2,090

 

 

1,782

one year to five years 3,301 2,520

more than five years 2,229 1,704

 7,620 6,006
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sec tion e  

Budgetary Reporting Disclosures
In accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 1055, explanations of major variances between actual amounts presented in the financial 

statements against that of 2016-2017 budgets are disclosed below.

Explanations have been provided where variances have been deemed material. 

a) Statement of comprehensive income

Statement of comprehensive income     

 Budget Actual   

 2017 2017 Variance Variance Notes

 $'000 $'000 $'000 %

Income     

User charges 840,564 873,719 33,155 3.94% (a)

Grants and other contributions 22,172 26,008 3,836 17.30% (b)

Other revenue 1,525 5,217 3,692 242.10%  -

Total revenue  864,261  904,944  40,683  

Expenses     

Employee expenses (617,161) (638,179) (21,018) 3.41% (c)

Supplies and services (195,254) (204,120) (8,866) 4.54% (d)

Grants and subsidies (4,082) (2,912) 1,170 -28.66% -

Depreciation and amortisation (43,623) (40,368) 3,255 -7.46% -

Bad and doubtful debts - (2,857) (2,857) 0.00% -

Other expenses (4,141) (9,221) (5,080) 122.68% (e)

Total expenses ( 864,261) ( 897,657) ( 33,396)  

Operating result for the year -  7,287  7,287  

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Increase in asset revaluation surplus - 43,599 43,599  

Other comprehensive income for the year -  43,599  43,599  

Total comprehensive income for the year - 50,886 50,886  

Major variances between 2016–2017 budget and 2016–2017 actual amounts include:

a) User Charges: The increase relates to additional funding provided through amendments to the Service Agreement between Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service (HHS) and the Department of Health. Additional funding is provided for increases in service activity, 

enterprise bargaining, block funded services, teaching, training and research funding and own source revenue.

b) Grants and other contributions: The increase relates to an increase of $3.4 million in the Commonwealth Nursing Home Benefits grant 

for the 2016-2017 FY.

c) Employee Expenses: Variance is attributed to a combination of enterprise bargaining agreement adjustments (2.5 per cent) and 

increased contracted labour plus overtime to accommodate increased activity levels.

d) Supplies and Services: The increase relates to the purchase of increased service activity by the Department of Health. Increased costs are 

attributable to increased activity levels including outsourced service delivery, clinical supplies and pathology, prosthetics and travel costs.

e) Other Expenses: The budget did not reflect in total the $7.7 million QGIF premium for the FY 2016-2017.
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b) Statement of financial position

Statement of financial position     

 Budget Actual   

 2017 2017 Variance Variance Notes

 $'000 $'000 $'000 %

Assets     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 74,047 48,723 (25,324) -34.20% (f)

Trade and other receivables 17,725 20,490 2,765 15.60% (g)

Inventories 6,290 7,874 1,584 25.18% -

Prepayments 634 1,765 1,131 178.39% -

Total current assets  98,696  78,852 ( 19,844)  

     

Non-current assets     

Property, plant and equipment 795,706 781,757 (13,949) -1.75% (h)

Intangibles 243 6,366 6,123 2519.75% (i)

Total non-current assets  795,949  788,123 ( 7,826)  

Total assets  894,645  866,975 ( 27,670)  

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables 37,227 23,347 (13,880) -37.28% (j)

Accrued employee benefits 16,030 22,814 6,784 42.32% (k)

Unearned revenue 1,212 2,979 1,767 145.79% -

Total current liabilities  54,469  49,140 ( 5,329)  

Total liabilities  54,469  49,140 ( 5,329)  

Net assets 840,176 817,835 (22,341)  

EQUITY     

Contributed - 648,157 648,157 0.00%

Asset revaluation surplus - 112,836 112,836 0.00%

Accumulated surpluses - 56,842 56,842 0.00%

Total equity 840,176 817,835 817,835  

Major variances between 2016–2017 budget and 2016–2017 actual amounts include:

f ) Cash & cash equivalents: The decrease relates to cash contributions made by the HHS to capital initiatives combined with payments 

made towards employee expenses incurred as a result of the increased level of activity.

g) Trade and other receivables: The increase is due in part to additional funding payable from the Department of Health to the HHS as a 

result of financial year technical adjustments. The total technical adjustments were $7.6 million.

h) Property, plant and equipment: The budget incorporates all proposed Townsville HHS surplus-funded capital initiatives for the FY 2016-

2017 which were only partly realised in the year. 

i) Intangibles: The variance reflects a HHS intangible asset arising from the digital hospital initiative not reflected in the budget.

j) Trade and other payables: The variance is a result of the timing of payments for trade payables and a reduction in accruals at the year end.

k) Accrued employee benefits: The budget did not incorporate an accrual of 12 days of employee benefits for the standard payroll pay run 

to 30 June 2017.
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c) Statement of cash flows

Statement of cash flows     

 Budget Actual   

 2017 2017 Variance Variance Notes

 $'000 $'000 $'000 %

Cash flows from operating activities     

User charges 838,150 840,057 1,907 0.23% -

Grants and other contributions 22,172 26,008 3,836 17.30% (l)

Interest received 270 360 90 33.33% -

Other revenue 17,186 7,414 (9,772) -56.86% (m)

Employee expenses (617,161) (635,773) (18,612) 3.02% -

Supplies and services (209,270) (204,013) 5,257 -2.51% -

Grants and subsidies (4,082) (2,497) 1,585 -38.83% -

Other expenses (1,923) (9,350) (7,427) 386.22% (n)

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities  45,342  22,206 ( 23,136)  

Cash flows from investing activities     

Payments for property, plant and equipment (8,250) (46,950) (38,700) 469.09% (o)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - - - 0.00% -

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities ( 8,250) ( 46,950) ( 38,700)  

Cash flows from financing activities     

Proceeds from equity injections/(withdrawals)/payments (35,353) 21,333 56,686 -160.34% (p)

Net cash from/(used by) financing activities ( 35,353)  21,333  56,686  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held  1,739 ( 3,411) ( 5,150)  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 72,308 52,134 (20,174)  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 74,047 48,723 (25,324)  

Major variances between 2016–2017 budget and 2016–2017 actual amounts include:

l) Grants and other contributions: Refer to (b)

m) Other revenue: Expected cash flows derived in the budget were not received.

n) Other expenses: Refer to (e)

o) Payment for PPE: The budget does not reflect the Townsville HHS capital initiatives invested and realised in the FY 2016-2017.

p) Proceeds from equity injections/(withdrawals)/payments: The budget includes equity withdrawals that relate to the contribution to DOH 

capital works that are non-cash.
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sec tion f  

What We Look After 
On Behalf of Whole-
Of-Government And 
Third Parties
F1 PATIENT TRUST FUNDS

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Patient Trust receipts and payments   

Receipts   

Amounts receipted on behalf of patients 8,549 14,092

Total receipts 8,549 14,092

Payments   

Amounts paid to or on behalf of patients (8,191) (11,550)

Total payments (8,191) (11,550)

Trust assets and liabilities   

Assets   

Current asset beginning of year 4,317 1,775

Total assets 4,675 4,317

Patient Trust

The Townsville HHS is responsible for the efficient, effective and 

accountable administration of patients’ monies. Patients’ monies/ 

properties are held in a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of the 

patient to whom the duty is owed.

Patients’ monies do not represent resources controlled by the 

Townsville HHS. These monies are received and held on behalf of 

patients and, as such, do not form part of the assets recognised by 

the Townsville HHS.

The Townsville HHS acts in a trust capacity in relation to patient 

trust accounts. Although patient funds are not controlled by the 

Townsville HHS, trust activities are included in the audit performed 

annually by the Auditor-General of Queensland.

 

F2 RESTRICTED ASSETS

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Study Education and Research Trust   

Revenue 1,638 2,154

Education and professional development (373) (121)

Travel (3) (8)

Equipment (2) (1)

Research grants and expenses (1,067) (656)

Total Payments (1,445) (786)

Surplus for the year 193 1,368

Current asset beginning of year 9,449 8,081

Current asset end of year 9,642 9,449

Plus: Amounts held in other trusts 2,456 2,432

Total General Trust Funds 12,098 11,881

Restricted Assets

General Trust transactions incorporate monies received through 

fundraising activities, donations, and bequests which are 

held by the Townsville HHS for a stipulated purpose as well as 

cash contributions arising from the Right of Private Practice 

arrangements that are specified for study, education and research 

activities.

The General Trust fund includes Study Education and Research 

Trust Account (SERTA) as disclosed in the following table. Under the 

MOCA 4 Granted Private Practice Revenue Retention arrangement, 

service-retention amounts generated by doctors after reaching 

the threshold allowable under the retention arrangement are held 

in trust for specific purposes of study, education and research 

activities.

General Trust Funds are managed on an accrual basis and form part 

of the annual general purpose financial statements. This money is 

controlled by the Townsville HHS and forms part of the cash and 

cash equivalents balance (refer to Note C1); however, it is restricted 

as it can only be used for specific purposes. At 30 June 2017 

amounts of $12,098,314 (2016: $11,880,573) are set aside for the 

specified purpose of the underlying contribution.

Given that funds generated from private practice arrangements 

are reflected in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the 

services are rendered, the timing of SERTA expenditure can impact 

on the overall HHS operating result. For instance, a positive financial 

impact will result when SERTA revenue exceeds SERTA expenditure 

during any given financial year. Conversely, a negative financial 

impact will result when SERTA expenditure exceeds SERTA revenue 

during any given financial year.
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F3 ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE PROVISION OF PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE BY OTHER ENTITIES

The Department of Health, prior to the establishment of the Townsville HHS, had entered into a number of contractual arrangements with 

private sector entities for the construction and operation of public infrastructure facilities for a period of time on land now controlled by the 

Townsville HHS (Public Private Partnership (PPP) arrangements).

Although the land on which the facilities have been constructed remains an asset of the Townsville HHS, the HHS does not control the 

facilities with these arrangements. Therefore, these facilities are not recorded as assets. The Townsville HHS received rights and incurs 

obligations under these arrangements including:

a) rights and obligations to receive and pay cash flows in accordance with the respective contractual arrangements and

b) rights to receive the facilities at the end of the contractual term.

The arrangements have been structured to minimise risk exposure for the Townsville HHS. The HHS has not recognised any rights or 

obligations that may attach to those arrangements.

Public Private Partnership (PPP) arrangements operating during the financial year are as follows:

 2017 2016

 $'000 $'000

Revenue and expenses   

Revenue   

Medilink 39 38

Goodstart Early Learning 15 15

Total revenue 54 53

Medilink

The developer has constructed an administrative and retail complex on the site at The Townsville Hospital. Rental of $36,000 per annum, 

escalated for CPI annually will be received from the facility owner up to January 2042. The facility owner operates and maintains the facility 

at its sole cost and risk. Estimated net rent receivable to 2042 is $1,377,623 (2016: $1,417,000)

Goodstart Early Learning Centre

The developer has constructed a childcare facility on the site at The Townsville Hospital. Rental of $14,000 per annum, escalated for CPI 

annually will be received from the facility owner up to February 2044. The facility owner operates and maintains the facility at its sole cost 

and risk. Estimated net rent receivable to 2042 $554,207 (2016: $569,000).

In accordance with the relevant provisions of the contractual arrangements, the ownership of the buildings transfers to Townsville HHS at no 

cost to the HHS at the expiry of the contractual arrangements.
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SEC T ION G  

Other Information
G1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL AND REMUNERATION

Key management personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the HHS, directly or indirectly, including any director of the HHS. The following persons were considered key management personnel of 

the HHS during the current financial year:

Key management personnel and remuneration disclosures are made in accordance with Section 5 of the Financial Reporting Requirements 

for Queensland Government Agencies issued by Queensland Treasury. As from 2016-17, the Townsville HHS’s responsible Minister, the Hon 

Cameron Dick MP, is identified as part of the HHS’s KMP, consistent with the additional guidance included in the revised version of AASB 124 

Related Party Disclosures. The Minister is the Minister for Health and Minister for Ambulance Services.

Position Name

Contract classification and 

appointment authority

Initial 

Appointment date

Chair of Townsville Hospital and Health 

Board (Townsville HHB) & Chair of 

Townsville HHB Executive Committee

Tony Mooney AM Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2016 - 17/5/2020

18/05/2016

Deputy Chair Townsville HHB & Chair of 

Townsville HHB Finance Committee

Michelle Morton Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2016 - 17/5/2019

27/07/2012

Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 

Townsville HHB Safety & Quality Committee 

(Ceased: 17/05/2017)

Dr Kevin Arlett Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2014 - 17/5/2017

29/06/2012

Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 

Townsville HHB Audit and Risk Committee 

(Appointed: 05/06/2017)

Debra Burden Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2017 - 17/5/2020

18/05/2016

Board Member Townsville HHB Christopher Castles Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 17/5/2017 - 17/5/2019

18/05/2016

Board Member Townsville HHB & Chair of 

Townsville HHB Audit and Risk Committee 

(Ceased:05/06/2017)

Chair of Townsville HHB Safety & Quality 

Committee (Appointed: 05/06/2017)

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2017 - 17/5/2018

29/06/2012

Board Member Townsville HHB Sarah Kendall Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2017 - 17/5/2021

18/05/2016

Board Member Townsville HHB Professor Ajay Rane 

OAM

 Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2017 - 17/5/2020

18/05/2017

Board Member Townsville HHB Professor Gracelyn 

Smallwood AO

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 23/10/2016 - 17/5/2019

23/10/2015

Board Member Townsville HHB Robert Whaleboat Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2016 - 15/5/2019

27/07/2012

Board Member Townsville HHB Professor Ian Wronski 

AO

Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 

Tenure: 18/5/2017 - 17/5/2019

29/06/2012

Health Service Chief Executive- The Health 

Service Chief Executive is responsible for 

the strategic direction and the efficient, 

effective and economic administration of 

the health service.

Dr Peter Bristow S24/S70 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

18/01/2016

Chief Operating Officer- responsible for the 

efficient operation of the health service 

providing strategic leadership and direction 

for the Townsville HHS service delivery

Kieran Keyes HES3-2 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

01/12/2012
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Interim Chief Finance Officer- responsible for 

strategic leadership and direction over the 

efficient, effective and economic financial 

administration of the Townsville HHS

Robert Graham HES3-1 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

18/01/2016 - 

12/05/2017

Chief Finance Officer- responsible for 

strategic leadership and direction over the 

efficient, effective and economic financial 

administration of the Townsville HHS

Stephen Harbort HES3-1 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

24/04/2017

Executive Director Clinical Governance 

provides strategic oversight of the safety 

and quality functions across the Townsville 

HHS

Dr Tracey Bessell HES2-3 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

3/01/2017

Executive Director Programmes 

Management- provide in-house leadership 

support for significant strategic and 

organisation-wide change programs

Danielle Hornsby DSO1.2 Hospital and Health Boards Act 

2011

22/06/2015

Executive Director Medical Services- 

responsible for providing strategic and 

operational leadership of medical service 

delivery of the Townsville HHS

Dr Andrew Johnson MMO13 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

1/07/2012

Executive Director Nursing & Midwifery 

Services- responsible for providing strategic 

and operational leadership of nursing and 

midwifery services of the Townsville HHS

Judith Morton NRG12-1 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

1/12/2014

Executive Director Human Resources & 

Engagement- provides strategic human 

resource management for the Townsville 

HHS

Allan Parsons HES2-3 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

03/10/2016 - 

30/06/2017

Executive Director Human Resources & 

Engagement- provides strategic human 

resource management for the Townsville 

HHS

Anne Tibaldi HES2-3 01 Hospital and Health Boards 

Act 2011

9/05/2016 - 

02/12/2016

Remuneration comprises the following components:

• Short-term employee benefits which include: 

• Base – consisting of base salary, allowances and leave entitlements paid and provided for the entire year or for that part of the year 

during which the employee occupied the specified position. Amounts disclosed equal the amount expensed in the statement of 

comprehensive income

• Non-monetary benefits – consisting of provision of all vehicle and loan fringe benefits, as well as fringe benefits tax applicable to these benefits

• Long-term employee benefits include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave

• Post-employment benefits include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations

• Redundancy payments are not provided for within individual contracts of employment. Contracts of employment provide only for notice 

periods or payment in lieu of notice on termination, regardless of the reason for termination

• Performance bonuses are not paid under the contracts in place

• Total fixed remuneration is calculated on a ‘total cost’ basis and includes the base and non-monetary benefits, long-term employee 

benefits and post-employment benefits

Ministerial remuneration entitlements are outlined in the Legislative Assembly of Queensland’s Members’ Remuneration Handbook. The Townsville HHS does 
not bear any cost of remuneration of Ministers. The majority of Ministerial entitlements are paid by the Legislative Assembly, with the remaining entitlements 
being provided by Ministerial Services Branch within the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. As all Ministers are reported as KMP of the Queensland 
Government, aggregate remuneration expenses for all Ministers is disclosed in the Queensland General Government and Whole-of-Government Consolidated 
Financial Statements as from 2016-17, which are published as part of Queensland Treasury’s Report on State Finances.
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2017 Short- term benefits

Monetary Non-monetary Post-employment 

benefits

Long-term 

benefits

Termination 

benefits

Total

Name $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Tony Mooney AM 101 - 9 - - 110

Michelle Morton 56 - 6 - - 62

Dr Kevin Arlett 48 - 5 - - 53

Debra Burden 54 - 5 - - 59

Christopher Castles 56 - 5 - - 61

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM 55 - 5 - - 60

Professor Gracelyn Smallwood AO 50 - 7 - - 57

Sarah Kendall 52 - 5 - - 57

Professor Ajay Rane OAM 5 - - - - 5

Robert Whaleboat 52 - 6 - - 58

Professor Ian Wronski AO 49 - 5 - - 54

Dr Peter Bristow 476 1 48 9 - 534

Kieran Keyes 218 - 21 4 - 243

Robert Graham 169 - 17 3 - 189

Stephen Harbort 61 - 5 1 - 67

Dr Tracey Bessell 95 - 10 2 - 107

Danielle Hornsby 155 - 17 3 - 175

Dr Andrew Johnson 558 1 41 11 - 611

Judith Morton 238 - 24 5 - 267

Allan Parsons 181 - 19 4 - 204

Anne Tibaldi 69 - 7 1 - 77

2016 Short- term benefits

Monetary Non-monetary Post-employment 

benefits

Long-term 

benefits

Termination 

benefits

Total

Name $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Tony Mooney AM 10 - 1 - - 11

Michelle Morton 47 - 5 - - 52

Dr Kevin Arlett 46 - 4 - - 50

Debra Burden 5 - 1 - - 6

Christopher Castles 5 - 1 - - 6

Dr Eric Guazzo OAM 49 - 5 - - 54

Sarah Kendall 5 - 1 - - 6

Professor Gracelyn Smallwood AO 30 - 3 - - 33

Robert Whaleboat 46 - 5 - - 51

Professor Ian Wronski AO 46 - 4 - - 50

John Bearne 82 - 9 - - 91

Glen Cerutti 48 - 4 - - 52

Lynette McLaughlin 42 - 4 - - 46

Susan Phillips 46 - 4 - - 50

Dr Peter Bristow 219 - 23 4 - 246

Kieran Keyes 230 1 22 4 - 257

Robert Graham 100 - 9 2 - 111

Danielle Hornsby 161 - 15 3 - 179

Dr Andrew Johnson 506 1 35 10 - 552
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2016 Short- term benefits

Monetary Non-monetary

Post-employment 

benefits

Long-term 

benefits

Termination 

benefits Total

Name $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Katrina Mathies 21 - 2 - - 23

Judith Morton 232 - 23 4 - 259

Anne Tibaldi 34 - 3 1 - 38

Julia Squire 105 6 9 2 - 122

Shaun Eldridge 119 - 10 2 1 132

Peter Barker 72 - 7 1 - 80

Lisa Davies Jones 167 - 16 3 - 186

Patrick Sheehan 107 - 9 2 15 133

G2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with people/entities related to KMP

Any transactions in the year ended 30 June 2017 between Townsville Hospital and Health Service and key management personnel, including 

the people/entities related to key management personnel were on normal commercial terms and conditions and were immaterial in nature.

Transactions with other Queensland Government-controlled entities

Department of Health

The Townsville Hospital and Health Service primary source of funding from the department for its services are user charges (Note B1-1) and 

equity injections (Note C7-1), both of which are provided in cash.

Queensland Treasury Corporation

The Townsville Hospital and Health Service holds cash investments with Queensland Treasury Corporation in relation to trust monies which 

are outlined in (Note F1 and Note F2)

G3 TAXATION

The Townsville HHS is exempted from income tax under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempted from other forms of 

Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Service Tax (GST).

All FBT and GST reporting to the Commonwealth is managed centrally by the Department of Health, with payments/receipts made on behalf 

of Townsville HHS reimbursed to/from the Department on a monthly basis. GST credits receivable from, and GST payable to the ATO, are 

recognised on this basis.

Both the Townsville HHS and the Department of Health satisfy section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 

(Cth) (the GST Act). Consequently they were able, with other hospital and health services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under Division 

149 of the GST Act. Any transactions between the members of the “group” do not attract GST.

Revenues and expenses are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the ATO. 

In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense. Receivables 

and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.

G4 FIRST-YEAR APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARDS OR CHANGE IN POLICY

New and Revised Accounting Standards

The Townsville HHS did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2016–2017. 

No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for 2016-2017.

Accounting Standards Applied for the First Time

The only Australian Accounting Standard that became effective for the first time in 2016-17 is AASB124 Related Party Disclosures.  The 

standard requires note disclosures about relationships between a parent entity and its controlled entities, key management personnel 

(KMP) remuneration expenses and other related party transactions, and does not impact on financial statement line items.  As Queensland 

Treasury already required disclosure of KMP remuneration expenses, AASB124 itself had minimal impact on the HHS’s KMP disclosures 

compared to 2015-2016 (refer to Note G1). However, the standard has resulted in the responsible Minister being identified as part of the KMP 

as from 2016-2017.  Material related party transactions for 2016-2017 are disclosed in NoteG2.  No comparative information about related 

party transactions is required in respect of 2015-2016.
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Future Impact of Accounting Standards not yet Effective

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards issued but 

with future commencement dates are set out below.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and contains much more detailed 

requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenues from customers.  Depending on the specific contractual terms, the new 

requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of the Townsville HHS’s services, such that some 

revenue may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that the HHS has received cash but has not met its associated 

obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability (unearned revenue) in the meantime).  The HHS considers that the most 

likely financial impact will be the deferred recognition of certain revenue to the extent that there are performance obligations under an 

enforceable contract that meet the “sufficiently specific” criteria of AASB15.

AASB 1058 Income of Not-For-Profit Entities

This standard will become effective for reporting periods commencing on, or after, 1 January 2019.  AASB1058 clarifies and simplifies the 

income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit (NFP) entities, and the majority of income recognition requirements relating 

to private sector NFP entities and the majority of income recognition requirements relating to public sector NFP entities, previously 

in AASB1004 Contributions.  AASB 1058 applies to transactions where the consideration given to acquire an asset (including cash) is 

significantly less than fair value of the asset principally to enable a not-for profit entity to further its objectives or to volunteer services.  

Where consideration provided under a transaction solely involves performance obligations under an enforceable contract and is sufficiently 

specific it is accounted for under AASB15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer.  The HHS is yet to complete its analysis of current 

arrangements in relation to transactions that fall within the ambit of AASB1058, but does not expect a significant impact on its present 

accounting practices.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB9 (December 2014)

These standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on, or after, 1 January 2018.  The main impacts of these standards 

on the HHS are that they will change the requirements for classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the 

HHS’s financial assets.  AASB9 will introduce criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value. 

At this stage, and assuming no change in the types of transactions that the HHS enters into, all the HHS’s financial assets are expected to be 

measured at fair value.  In the case of the HHS’s current receivables, as they are short term in nature, the carrying amount is expected to be 

a reasonable approximation of fair value.  Changes in the fair value of those assets will be reflected in the HHS’s operating result.

Another impact of AASB 9 relates to calculating impairment losses for the HHS’s receivables.  Assuming no substantial change in the nature 

of the HHS’s receivables, as they do not include a significant financing component, impairment losses will be determined according to the 

amount of lifetime-expected credit losses.  On initial adoption of AASB9, the HHS will need to determine the expected credit losses for its 

receivables by comparing the credit risk at the time to the credit risk that existed when those receivables were initially recognised.  

Assuming no change in the types of financial instruments that the HHS enters in to, the most likely ongoing disclosure impacts are expected 

to relate to the credit risk of financial assets subject to impairment through other comprehensive income.

AASB 16 Leases

This standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on, or after, 1 January 2019 and will provide a new approach to lease 

accounting that requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by both finance and operating 

leases.  The HHS expects an increase in assets and liabilities proportionate to the scale of the operating leases currently held by the HHS.  

G5 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the agency’s operations, 

the results of those operations, or the agency’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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Management Certificate
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to Section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), 

Section 43 of the Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In accordance with Section 

62(1)(b) of the Act, we certify that in our opinion:

a) the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all material respects; 

b) these financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with prescribed accounting standards, of 

the transactions of Townsville Hospital and Health Service for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and of the financial position of the 

service at the end of the year; and

c) these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk-management processes being effective, in all material 

respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the reporting period.

Tony Mooney AM 

Board Chair 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

Date: 21 August 2017 

Dr Peter Bristow 

Chief Executive 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

Date: 18 August 2017 

Stephen Harbort 

Chief Finance Officer 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service 

Date: 21 August 2017 
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Independent  
Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Townsville Hospital and Health Service

report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

I have audited the accompanying financial report of 

Townsville Hospital and Health Service. The financial report 

comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 

2017, the statement of comprehensive income, statement 

of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 

year then ended, notes to the financial statements including 

summaries of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information, and the management certificate. 

In my opinion, the financial report:

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position 

as at 30 June 2017, and its financial performance 

and cash flows for the year then ended 

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, 

the Financial and Performance Management Standard 

2009 and Australian Accounting Standards.

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General 

of Queensland Auditing Standards, which incorporate the 

Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.

I am independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 

Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the 

financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and 

the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional 

judgement, were of most significance in my audit of the 

financial report of the current period. I addressed these 

matters in the context of my audit of the financial report 

as a whole, and in forming my opinion thereon, and I do 

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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special ised buildings valuation ($655.9m)  

Key audit matter How my audit addressed the key audit matter

Buildings were material to Townsville Hospital and Health 

Service at balance date, and were measured at fair value 

using the current replacement cost method. Townsville 

Hospital and Health Service performed a comprehensive 

revaluation of approximately 75% of its buildings this year 

with remaining assets being revalued using indexation.

The current replacement cost method comprises:

• Gross replacement cost, less

• Accumulated depreciation

Townsville Hospital and Health Service derived the gross 

replacement cost of its buildings at balance date using 

unit prices that required significant judgements for:

• identifying the components of buildings with 

separately identifiable replacement costs

• developing a unit rate for each of these components, including:

• estimating the current cost for a modern substitute 

(including locality factors and oncosts), expressed 

as a rate per unit (e.g. $/square metre)

• identifying whether the existing building contains 

obsolescence or less utility compared to the modern 

substitute, and if so estimating the adjustment to 

the unit rate required to reflect this difference.

• indexing unit rates for subsequent increases in input costs 

• The measurement of accumulated depreciation 

involved significant judgements for forecasting the 

remaining useful lives of building components.

The significant judgements required for gross 

replacement cost and useful lives are also significant 

for calculating annual depreciation expense.

My procedures included, but were not limited to:

• Assessing the adequacy of management’s 

review of the valuation process.

• Assessing the appropriateness of the components 

of buildings used for measuring gross replacement 

cost with reference to common industry practices

• Engaging a real estate specialist to review the valuation 

methodology and the underlying assumptions for a sample 

of the buildings being comprehensively revalued

• For unit rates associated with buildings that 

were comprehensively revalued this year: 

• Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity 
of the experts used to develop the models

• Reviewing the scope and instructions provided to 
the valuer, and obtaining an understanding of the 
methodology used and assessing its appropriateness 
with reference to common industry practices.

• On a sample basis, evaluating the relevance, 
completeness and accuracy of source data 
used to derive the unit rate of the:

• modern substitute  

(including locality factors and oncosts)

• adjustment for excess quality or obsolescence.

• For unit rates associated with the remaining buildings:

• Evaluating the relevance and appropriateness 

of the indices used for changes in cost inputs by 

comparing to other relevant external indices

• Recalculate the application of indices to asset balances.

• Evaluating useful life estimates for reasonableness by:

• Reviewing management’s annual 
assessment of useful lives.

• Ensuring that no asset still in use has 
reached or exceeded its useful life.

• Enquiring of management about their plans for 
assets that are nearing the end of their useful life.

• Reviewing assets with an inconsistent relationship 
between condition and remaining useful life.

• Where changes in useful lives were identified, evaluating 

whether they were supported by appropriate evidence.

Refer to Note C4 in the financial report.
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Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial 

report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the 

Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 

Management Standard 2009 and Australian Accounting Standards, 

and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 

to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The Board is also responsible for assessing the entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to 

abolish the entity or to otherwise cease operations. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 

Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing 

Standards, I exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 

may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by the entity.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going 

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's 

ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I 

base my conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 

the financial report represents the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

From the matters communicated with the Board, I determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial 

report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be 

communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2017:

a) I received all the information and explanations I required.

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and 

keeping of accounts were complied with in all material respects.

D J OLIVE 

as delegate of the Auditor-General 

Queensland Audit Office  

Brisbane
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report reference

Letter of compliance
• A letter of compliance from the 

accountable officer or statutory 
body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 Page 4

Accessibility

• Table of contents

• Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 Page 5

Page 79

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 Page 2

• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government 
Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3

Page 2

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968

ARRs – section 9.4

Page 2

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing

ARRs – section 9.5

Page 2

General information

• Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 Page 6-7

• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 Page 40, 18-19

• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 Page 40, 17, 19-29, 31-33

Non-financial performance

• Government’s objectives 
for the community

ARRs – section 11.1 Page 19

• Other whole-of-government 
plans / specific initiatives

ARRs – section 11.2 Page 29-30

• Agency objectives and 
performance indicators

ARRs – section 11.3 Page 8-13, 15-16

• Agency service areas and 
service standards 

ARRs – section 11.4 Page 8-13, 15-16

Financial performance • Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 Page 14

Governance – management 
and structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 Page 20

• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 Page 19, 40-45

• Government bodies (statutory 
bodies and other entities)

ARRs – section 13.3 N/A

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994

ARRs – section 13.4

Page 37

• Queensland Public Service Values ARRs – section 13.5 Page 18

Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 Page 44

• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 Page 44

• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 Page 44

• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 Page 44-45

• Information systems and 
recordkeeping

ARRs – section 14.5 Page 45

compliance checklist
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Summary of requirement Basis for requirement Annual report reference

Governance – human 
resources

• Workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 Page 34-39

• Early retirement, redundancy 
and retrenchment

Directive No.11/12 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment. 

Directive No. 16/16 Early 
Retirement, Redundancy 
and Retrenchment 
(from 20 May 2016)

ARRs – section 15.2

Page 37

Open Data

• Statement advising publication 
of information

ARRs – section 16 Page 2

• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 Page 2

• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 Page 2

• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 Page 2

Financial statements

• Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62 

FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 
50 ARRs – section 17.1

Page 72

• Independent Auditor's Report FAA – section 62 

FPMS – section 50

 ARRs – section 17.2

Page 73

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009

FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009

ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies  
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glossary
ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards

AF Atrial fibrillation 

AO Officer of the Order of Australia

ATODS Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drugs Services

BEMS Building, Engineering and Maintenance Services 

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CTG Cardiotocograph

DABIT Drug and Alcohol Brief Intervention Team

DOH Department of Health 

FISS Facilities, Infrastructure and Support Services

FTE Full-time equivalent

HiTH Hospital in the Home

HHS Hospital and Health Service

HSCE Health Service Chief Executive

iEMR Integrated electronic medical records

iCARE Integrity, Compassion, Accountability, Respect, Engagement

JCU James Cook University

JPHS Joyce Palmer Health Service

MOHRI Minimum obligatory human resource information

MS Multiple sclerosis

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme

OAM Medal of the Order of Australia

PC Personal computer

PCC Palliative Care Centre

RACS Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

RSL Returned Services League

STI Sexually transmitted infection

TAIHS Townsville Aboriginal and Islander Health Service 

TPHU Townsville Public Health Unit
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